

# Digitalisation of Services in an Accelerator Company

A qualitative case study on digitalisation of processes and services and the related advantages of an accelerator company through Actor Network Theory.

CHRISTINA M. DITMANSEN

SUPERVISOR Kalanit Efrat

**University of Agder, 2022** Faculty of Business and Law Department of Economics and Finance





### Abstract

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to an increase in digitalisation which has impacted the operational structure of businesses. It has also led to an increase in innovation, and the digitalisation of start-up assistance organisations, such as business accelerators. Previous literature lacks information regarding the digitalisation of business accelerators.

This master's thesis aims to examine which processes and services of an accelerator company can be digitalised and the advantages of digitalisation from an accelerator company's viewpoint.

The research uses an exploratory case study to gather qualitative data through a set of interviews with the case company, Moment, and four of the start-up companies that the case company is collaborating with. Data were also collected through a table of accelerator services, filled out by the case company.

The interviews were recorded and transcribed, and the results were then evaluated to discover similar themes, which were then compared. The data gathered presents the processes and services offered by Moment and which services can be digitalised. Approximately one-fifth of the services can be fully digitalised, almost half of the services can be partially digitalised, and the remaining one-third of the services should not be digitalised, according to the case company.

The findings also present the five main advantages of digitalisation for the case company, which include systematisation, eco-friendly operations, increased profit, increased success rate, and increased efficiency.

Through the concept of translation from the Actor Network Theory, a suggestion for the implementation of digitalisation of their processes and services is illustrated through the four stages of translation, which include the suggestion of implementing the digitalisation through change management or business process management.

Keywords: Business Accelerators, Start-ups Assistance Organisations, Digitalisation, Digitisation, Digital Transformation, Innovation, Actor Network Theory.



### Acknowledgements

This master's thesis marks the end of a two-year master's degree in Business Administration at the University of Agder, School of Business and Law. The thesis is compulsory, counts for 30 credit points, and is completed in the Spring of 2022.

Before I started writing this thesis, I had no previous knowledge about start-up assistance organisations or business accelerators. Throughout the process of writing this thesis, I have learned a tremendous amount about accelerators and digitalisation of services. Working on this thesis has been quite a journey, with its ups and downs. But in the end, an unforgettable experience.

First of all, I would like to thank the participating companies that made this research possible in the first place. Thank you for participating in this study and providing information. Secondly, I would like to thank my supervisor Kalanit Efrat for being supportive and guiding me throughout writing this thesis. She was excellent in giving inputs and feedback throughout the writing process. Thank you for your commitment, helpfulness, and curiosity.

I would also like to thank Håvard for being by my side throughout the whole process of writing the thesis. Your encouragement and support have been of great value. Finally, I would like to thank my parents for all their patience and support during the process of writing this thesis.

Kristiansand, Norway 01.06.2022

Christina M. Ditmansen

C.M.Ditmansen



# **Table of contents**

Abstract	1
Acknowledgements	2
1. Introduction	6
1.1 Background	6
1.2 Research gaps	7
1.3 Outline	9
2. Literature review	9
2.1 Business accelerators	9
2.1.1 Definition of accelerators	9
2.1.2 Core components of the accelerator model	
2.1.3 Types of business accelerators	
2.1.4 Types of acceleration programs and accelerator archetypes	14
2.1.5 Criticism and benefits	
2.2 Digitalisation	
2.2.1 Digital entrepreneurship	
2.2.2 Digital transformation	
2.2.2.1 Stages of digital transformation	
2.2.2.2 Digital transformation barriers	
2.2.2.3 Information and communication technology	
2.2.3 Transformation of internal processes	
2.2.3.1 Change management	
2.2.3.2 Business process management	
2.3 Theoretical lens: Actor Network Theory	
2.3.1 Defining Actor Network Theory	
2.3.2 Actors and mediators	
2.3.3 Translation in ANT	
2.3.4 Relevance of ANT	24
2.4 Theoretical framework	24
3. Methodology	24
3.1 Research design and strategy	25
3.1.1 Research approach	25
3.1.2 Research design	
3.1.3 Research strategy	
3.2 Case company	



	3.3 Data collection and analysis	28
	3.3.1 Data collection	28
	3.3.2 Data analysis	30
	3.4 Research quality	31
	3.4.1 Reliability and validity	31
	3.4.2 Ethical considerations	32
	3.4.3 Limitations	33
4.	. Findings	35
	4.1 Data gathered from interviews with the start-up companies	35
	4.1.1 Start-up company 1	35
	4.1.2 Start-up company 2	36
	4.1.3 Start-up company 3	38
	4.1.4 Start-up company 4	38
	4.1.5 List of services received from Moment	39
	4.2 Data gathered from interviews with the case company	41
	4.2.1 About Moment	41
	4.2.2 Moment's selection process	42
	4.2.3 Digital transformation	42
	4.2.4 Services offered by Moment	43
	4.2.5 Digitalisation of services	45
	4.3 Advantages of digitalisation from Moment's viewpoint	48
	4.3.1 Systematisation	50
	4.3.2 Eco-friendly operations	50
	4.3.3 Increased profit	50
	4.3.4 Increased success rate for the companies in the portfolio	50
	4.3.5 Increased efficiency	51
5.	. Discussion	51
	5.1 Moment as a business accelerator	51
	5.2 Digitalisation of services	52
	5.3 Advantages of digitalisation from Moment's viewpoint	54
	5.3.1 Disadvantages of digitalisation	55
	5.4 Digitalisation from an Actor Network Theory point of view	55
	5.4.1 ANT's concept of translation	55
	5.4.1.1 Problematisation	56
	5.4.1.2 Interessement	56
	5.4.1.3 Enrolment	57



5.4.1.4 Mobilisation	57
6. Conclusion	
6.1 Concluding remarks	
6.2 Implications	60
6.3 Limitations and further research	60
References	62
Appendix	
Appendix A – Formulating the interview guide	72
Appendix B – The interview guide	73
Appendix C – Raw data	77
Appendix D – Christina Ditmansen Discussion Paper on 'Responsible'	

# List of tables

Table 1: Comparing Corporate Accelerators, Innovation Accelerators, and VDOs (Sources: I	Dempwolf
et al., 2014; Pauwels et al., 2016)	13
Table 2: Services received from Moment	40
Table 3: Services offered by Moment	44
Table 4: The services that can be digitalised fully, partially, or should not be digitalised	46

# List of figures

Figure 1: Digital transformation (Source: Verhoef et al., 2019)	. 18
Figure 2: The digitalisation of services offered by Moment	. 47
Figure 3: Advantages of the digitalisation of services for Moment	. 49



### **1. Introduction**

### 1.1 Background

When the COVID-19 pandemic hit, the effect made an impact on both individuals and businesses worldwide. The pandemic caused substantial impact on many businesses requiring a change in operational structure as well as businesses closing (Fubah & Moos, 2022). Several companies had to figure out how to continue their businesses digitally, from at-home offices to the use of digital communication platforms. The role of digital and virtual solutions became vital for sustaining businesses' daily operation activities. Many had to adapt by introducing the use of increased digital tools and platforms, and numerous had to learn how to use these digital platforms. Businesses had to adapt to fit into an all-digitalised environment, and some businesses were forced to close. It was the beginning of a new digital era.

Business incubators are types of start-up assistance models and are known as instruments to adopt entrepreneurship and regional economic development (Smilor & Gill, 1986; Pauwels et al., 2016). An incubator is designed to support start-up companies (Malek et al., 2014). Business incubators have led to the development of business accelerators (Carvalho et al., 2017). Accelerators and incubators both have the goal of supporting start-ups from the beginning of their growth (Bone et al., 2019). Incubators are not-for-profit organisations, while accelerators are for-profit organisations that bring a return on investment to the sponsors (Del Sarto, et al., 2018). Accelerator programs assist entrepreneurs in turning their ideas into marketable products (Dempwolf et al., 2014).

Start-up assistance organisations such as incubators and accelerators had to stop their physical operations and were forced to implement digital versions of their processes. Before the pandemic, digital accelerators were less relevant, as people were used to working in physical offices. When the pandemic hit, the digitalisation of businesses became vital. The pandemic introduced both challenges and opportunities in the entrepreneurial ecosystems that did not exist before. The pandemic has provided entrepreneurial opportunities as the number of new companies has tremendously increased globally, mainly due to the large amounts of workers who were laid off and started their own businesses (Altun, 2021). On the other hand, ongoing lockdowns in several parts of the world led to decreased entrepreneurial activity, which again led to the closure of companies (Fubah & Moos, 2022).

Innovation is an important aspect in terms of the economic growth of a company, district, or country. Inventions and innovations are essential to the future of any economic unit (Hisrich et



al., 2017, p. 97). Entrepreneurial activity is therefore correlated to economic growth. Accelerators are a part of the entrepreneurial ecosystem and are important to the development of start-ups (Carvalho et al., 2017). The structure of an organisation is significant as it gives the company a specific focus, which creates stability and therefore also coordination of activities (Jacobsen & Thorsvik, 2013, p. 80). By enabling the digitalisation services, one can offer services to a broader spectre of customers, both on a national and an international level. By digitalising services and processes, companies are able to reach a higher number of people and can increase their market, which in turn can increase efficiency – if done right.

Throughout this thesis, the concept of business accelerators will be looked at more in detail, as it is a fairly new concept. Due to business accelerators being introduced as a version of business incubators, there is a lot more theory on incubators than on accelerators. Furthermore, the focus of this thesis will be on the digitalisation of services and internal processes of an accelerator company, more specifically the company Moment, as this is a single case study. The services offered by this company will be looked at in terms of how they can be digitalised, and in turn, make the acceleration process more efficient. There will particularly be a focus on the advantages of digitalisation from Moment's point of view.

The aim of this thesis is therefore to focus on a particular accelerator company that is based in Kristiansand, Norway. Through this case study, the business processes and services will be mapped out as well as an investigation on which of these processes and services can be optimised through digitalisation. Also, the advantages of digitalisation will be analysed. This will in turn contribute to the development of digital transformation strategy.

#### 1.2 Research gaps

Very little is known about the value of accelerator programs, how to define accelerator programs, and the importance of the success of these programs. There is not a lot of research done on business accelerators, as it is a fairly new concept and lacks comprehensive data sources (Cohen & Hochberg, 2014). There are gaps in the literature as there is a lack of understanding of the different types of incubation and acceleration models (Isabelle, 2013). Therefore, little research has examined the influence of learning and development through an accelerator (Harrison, 2019). Another important limitation of the research that has been done, is that very few studies have taken place in Norway. Through this master thesis, I am contributing to research on this particular topic in Norway.



There has also been a lack of research regarding the effectiveness of incubators and accelerators, both physical and virtual (Isabelle, 2013; Bone et al., 2017). Due to a lack of research, there has been a limited comparison of incubators versus accelerators (Bone et al., 2019). There has also been little research effort investigating the characteristics of the co-creation of digital services (Chowdhury, 2017).

Another gap is that many incubator or accelerator programs do not know if they are incubators or accelerators, or which type of start-up assistance program they should identify themselves as (Lang & Johnston, 2019). Accelerators and incubators have very similar characteristics and get mixed up. Companies may see themselves as accelerators, while essentially being an incubator. This is also applicable for incubators characterising themselves as accelerators. In other words, some accelerators are labelling themselves as incubators, and vice versa (Dempwolf et al., 2014). This can also include accelerator companies not knowing what type of accelerator they are.

Accelerators have not been investigated through many theoretical lenses as there is a lack of theoretical lenses used on business accelerators (Mian et al., 2016; Del Sarto et al., 2018), as well as a lack of proper framework for business accelerators (Pauwels et al., 2016). However, some research has been done from an open innovation point of view, such as Battistella et al. (2016) and Richter et al. (2017). There has been some research done using the resource-based view (RBV) as a theoretical lens, such as Hoffman and Radojevich-Kelley (2014).

Actor network theory (ANT) is a theory that is based on how actors form a network or ecosystem. ANT is about "how actors form alliances, involve other actors, and use non-human actors to strengthen alliances" (Hanseth, et al., 2004). ANT is relevant when studying innovation and information and communication technology, and therefore also in the process of digitalisation. ANT has its limitations as it mostly focuses on co-creating consumer products in a business-to-consumer context (Chowdhury, 2017). The research problems being investigated throughout this thesis are to what extent the internal processes and their related services can be digitalised in an accelerator company, and the advantages of digitalisation. There is a limited number of theoretical applications in terms of specific resources and processes needed for entrepreneurs in the digital era. Therefore, the actor network theory (ANT) will be applied as a theoretical lens in this thesis. Throughout this thesis, the services offered by an accelerator company will be examined as well as uncovering the potential for digitalising these. Therefore, the research questions that will be explored are as follows:



**RQ1** – Which processes and related services offered by an accelerator company can be digitalised?

RQ2 – What are the advantages of digitalisation from an accelerator company's point of view?

#### **1.3 Outline**

The structure of the thesis starts with this introducing chapter regarding the topic of discussion where the research questions and objectives are established. In the next chapter, the literature will be looked at in-depth regarding business accelerators, digitalisation and actor-network theory as a theoretical lens. The third chapter will discuss the methodology of the study, including research design and strategy, description of the case company, data collection, data analysis, and the research quality, thereby explaining how the study was conducted. In the fourth chapter, the results of the research will be presented, and in chapter five these results will be discussed and analysed. Furthermore, the sixth chapter concludes the research and provides implications, limitations of the study, and recommendations for future research.

### 2. Literature review

In the following chapter, relevant literature is investigated, which describes and presents the identified research area. To reach the purpose of the thesis, this section will give a more profound comprehension of three important concepts, which include business accelerators, digitalisation, and actor network theory.

#### **2.1 Business accelerators**

#### **2.1.1 Definition of accelerators**

Accelerators are a recent phenomenon, which was originally driven by private investors who wanted to benefit from start-ups in the digital media sector (Malek et al., 2014). They emerged in the early 2000s as "a new type of business incubation model" (Del Sarto, et al., 2018). The first accelerator that emerged was the Y-Combinator, which was launched in 2005. The accelerator model is therefore a relatively new type of business incubation and has received growing attention from practitioners and academics (Pauwels et al., 2016). A business incubator



can be defined as "a business support process that accelerates the successful development of start-up and fledgling companies by providing entrepreneurs with an array of targeted resources and services" (NBIA, n.d.; Isabelle, 2013). Incubators are designed to support start-up companies and have been around for over 50 years (Malek et al., 2014).

Accelerator programs help entrepreneurs with bringing their ideas into products in the market. There is a lack of data on this particular topic as there is little literature about the definition of accelerators and how to distinguish the different types of accelerators (Dempwolf et al., 2014). Business accelerators are a part of an entrepreneurial ecosystem and are important for the development of start-ups (Carvalho et al., 2017). Networking and obtaining connections with potential investors maximise the survival rate of a start-up company (Christiansen, 2009). The most widely used definition for an accelerator program is "a fixed-term, cohort-based program, including mentorship and educational components, that culminates in a public event, or demo day" (Cohen and Hochberg, 2014; Dempwolf et al., 2014). Other definitions include "a learning-oriented program aimed to assist new digital ventures early in their lifecycle by providing mentoring, education, networking opportunities and connections to potential investors" (Hallen et al., 2016), and "a model of intensive mentoring and capital investment, which allow for the effective launch of new ventures" (Smith & Hannigan, 2015; Szczukiewicz & Makowiec, 2021).

Accelerators offer a cohort-based program of limited duration, typically three to twelve months (Bone et al., 2017; Bone et al., 2019). Accelerators are organisations that help start-up companies into the market by supplying them with necessary funds and resources. In return, the start-ups give the accelerator organisation partial equity in their ventures (Regmi et al., 2015). Accelerator programs have six characteristics: they offer upfront investment in return for equity, time-limited support that includes intensive mentoring, open, but highly competitive application process, cohort-based, focus on small teams and not individuals, and ending with a Demo Day (Clarysse et al., 2015). These programs offer networking, educational, and mentorship opportunities (Cohen & Hochberg, 2014). Therefore, an accelerator is an entity that includes a fixed duration, is growth-based, provides seed funding, have cohort-based entries and exits, are highly selective, and offers mentorship, entrepreneurial training, and network opportunities (Heinemann, 2015; Fowle & Tyne, 2017; Garcia-Ochoa et al., 2021). Many accelerators have a Demo Day at the end of the program, where all the start-ups demonstrate their product to investors (Christiansen, 2009). The accelerator business model illustrates how



the accelerator is structured to best attain its goals and how to generate income through the correct pricing of products or services (Dempwolf et al., 2014).

#### 2.1.2 Core components of the accelerator model

The accelerator model has five core components or design elements. These are strategic focus, program package, funding, selection process, and alumni service (Clarysse et al., 2015). These core components are explained in greater detail below.

**Strategic focus** is shaped by the types of funders and stakeholders (Clarysse et al., 2015), describes the accelerator's strategic choices, and includes industry, sector, and geographical focus. Accelerators focus on knowledge-intensive services (Pauwels et al., 2016), in addition to focusing on cohorts of start-up companies instead of individual companies (Miller and Bound, 2011). Accelerator programs contribute to start-up companies getting in touch with investors and other stakeholders, as well as getting access to relevant resources (Malek et al., 2014).

**Program package** includes all the services offered by an accelerator company to its portfolio companies and consists of a training program with subjects like finance, marketing, and management. The program package also includes location services and investment opportunities (Pauwels et al., 2016). Accelerators are more suited for finding the 'winning' ideas faster and helping start-ups implement and grow (Dempwolf et al., 2014). The most important part of a successful start-up is getting good mentorship early on in the accelerator program (Bluestein & Barrett, 2010; TechStars, 2010; Hoffman & Radojevich-Kelley, 2012). The accelerator programs include intense education and mentorship, where years' worth of education is compressed into a few months (Garcia-Ochoa et al., 2021). Therefore, network development and mentorship are valuable aspects of an accelerator (Cohen & Hochberg, 2014). The greatest benefit of accelerators is networking (Hoffman & Radojevich-Kelley, 2012).

**The funding** consists of the funding from the accelerator and the funding that is available to the start-ups (Clarysse et al., 2015). There are multiple ways accelerators can get funding, such as from corporate sponsors, events held, grants by the government, research reports developed by accelerators, or entrepreneur-in-residence programs (Carvalho et al., 2017). Most accelerator programs get the majority of their working capital from shareholders (Pauwels et al., 2016).

**The selection process** differs among the accelerator programs (Clarysse et al., 2015) and is a process that consists of multiple stages. It usually starts with start-up companies registering and applying for the program online. Afterwards, through a standardised screening process, the



start-up companies "present their ideas and they are screened in person" (Pauwels et al., 2016). Accelerators have an open application process, and most applicants are young start-up teams that want to rapidly grow their business models (Richter et al., 2017). They have digital application processes so that a wide range of people from all over the world can apply (Miller and Bound, 2011). Accelerators are highly selective when choosing start-ups for the programs because the start-ups they choose need to raise funding in a way that is profitable for the accelerator. In other words, the success of the accelerator depends on the quality of the selected start-ups (Yin & Luo, 2018). Due to their selectiveness, there is a high demand for accelerator services (Lange & Johnston, 2019). Accelerator programs create a competitive and controlled environment that generates start-up ideas for a lasting collaboration (Richter et al., 2017).

Alumni services include post-program support, where the accelerators host events for alumni and invite them back so that they can share their experiences. Accelerator companies may take equity in the start-ups, which works as an incentive to further support the start-ups and help them succeed. The alumni network can be a vital source for mentors and investors, as start-ups may "invest back into the community that supported them in the first place" (Pauwels et al., 2016).

#### 2.1.3 Types of business accelerators

There are different types of accelerators and start-up assistance organisations. Accelerators are divided into innovation accelerators, social accelerators, university accelerators, and corporate accelerators. Innovation accelerators are for-profit ventures that help out potentially high-growth start-up companies (Carvalho et al., 2017; Dempwolf et al., 2014) that approach the concept of 'open innovation' (Szczukiewicz & Makowiec, 2021). Social accelerators are interested in profit while at the same time are implementing parts of the business model to accommodate goals. This type of accelerator is quite rare and has the purpose of making an accelerator profit (Dempwolf et al., 2014; Carvalho et al., 2017). University accelerators are educational non-profits that provide grants as assistance to students that are in the process of development. They do not take equity stakes and question the focus on technology (Carvalho et al., 2017). Corporate accelerators provide a plan and financial support for start-up companies so that they can transform their ideas into businesses (Carvalho et al., 2017; Dempwolf et al., 2014). They take part in the supply of seed capital (Dempwolf et al., 2014) and their main goal is to establish a relationship between corporations and start-ups (Del Sarto et al., 2018).

A venture development organisation (VDO) is a type of start-up assistance organisation. A venture development organisation is a "public or non-profit organisation that contributes to





economic development by providing a portfolio of services". A VDO draws on the strengths of the innovation system and is developed to overcome the system's weaknesses. VDOs help create high-growth companies, provide expert assistance and make investments in these companies, and accelerate the commercialization of technology (Dempwolf et al., 2014).

Out of the above-mentioned types of accelerators and start-up assistance organisations, three of them are seen as more relevant, which are: corporate accelerators, innovation accelerators, and venture development organisations. These accelerator types are summarised in the table below.

*Table 1: Comparing Corporate Accelerators, Innovation Accelerators, and VDOs (Sources: Dempwolf et al., 2014; Pauwels et al., 2016)* 

			Venture
	Corporate	Innovation	Development
	accelerators	accelerators	Organization
			(VDO)
Characteristics	Ecosystem builder.	Deal-flow maker.	Welfare simulator.
Program package	Mentoring by internal coaches. No	Mentoring by serial entrepreneurs and	Mentoring by serial entrepreneurs and
	equity engagement.	angel investors. Seed	business developers.
		investment and	Mostly seed
		equity engagement.	investment and
			equity engagement.
Value / benefits	Access to existing	Focuses on the	Advanced training
	network and contact	specialization in a	program, hands on
	with customers.	specific industry and	mentoring.
		the associated	
		knowledge of the	
		accelerator team.	
Selection process	Competitive. New	Competitive. New	Competitive. Very
	ventures in later	ventures in later	early-stage new
	stages.	stages.	ventures.
Funding structure	Corporates	Private investors	Various funding
		(angel investors,	schemes. Mainly
		venture capital and	governmental.
		corporate)	

Another type of accelerator, which does not fit into any of the above-mentioned categories, is the hybrid accelerator. In a study done by Bergmann and Rothausen (2020), there were identified three main types of accelerators: corporate accelerators, public accelerators, and hybrid accelerators. Hybrid accelerators have multiple funding sources, which can be from private sponsors, public sponsors, and multiple corporates. The strategic goals of hybrid accelerators are economic growth and regional development by focusing solely on a specific



sector or topic, establishing cooperation between start-ups and corporates, developing explorative and novel technologies, attracting entrepreneurial talent, and brand enhancement and marketing. This type of accelerator program focuses more on one or several related industry sectors or topics. In terms of location, the accelerator takes place at a specific location where it is funded. The program takes in new start-ups in all development stages. It does not include providing funding in the program package and does not take any equity in the venture. Still, it offers coaching and mentoring services just like a typical accelerator program (Bergmann & Rothausen, 2020). The main characteristics of hybrid accelerators can be described as a program that lasts between three months to two years, they do not have cohorts, the selection process is competitive and ongoing, and the venture stage is typically early-stage start-up companies. Also, the education process consists of various incubator and accelerator practises, the venture location is on-site, the mentorship is composed of staff expert support and some mentoring, and lastly, the business model consists of investments (Hathaway, 2016).

#### 2.1.4 Types of acceleration programs and accelerator archetypes

There are also different types of acceleration programs. Pre-acceleration programs focus on first-time entrepreneurs, recent graduates, and unemployed people. Generic programs focus on start-ups that are developing something that meets a customer's needs or wants in market niches. Vertical programs are similar to generic programs, but they also provide start-ups with domain experts and certain resources (Carvalho et al., 2017).

Furthermore, there are three accelerator archetypes: the investor-led, the matchmaker, and the ecosystem archetype. The investor-led archetype "receives funding from investors such as business angels or venture capital funds". The matchmaker archetype "has typically been set up by corporates who want to provide a service to their customers or stakeholders" and they do not offer to fund the start-ups participating in the accelerator program. Finally, the ecosystem archetype of accelerators "typically have government agencies as a main stakeholder" and have "the most in-depth developed curriculum among the three archetypes". These three archetypes show how the accelerator programs implement varied structures and the way the program is run depends on its stakeholders. Even though there are three accelerator archetypes, there are some accelerator programs that have hybrid elements and do not fit just into one of the archetypes (Clarysse et al., 2015).

#### 2.1.5 Criticism and benefits

Even though the accelerator phenomenon is fairly new, it has received some criticism. In particular, there is a lack of research regarding the effectiveness of accelerator programs and



how they are improving the survival and success rates of a start-up (Dempwolf et al., 2014). This means that companies can still fail after participating in an accelerator program. Accelerators have been criticised for appealing to later-stage start-ups that are struggling. Other criticisms include accelerators diverting talent from other high-growth ventures, start-up founders being exploited, and only building small companies (Miller & Bound, 2011; Elsner, 2020). A more recent criticism that accelerators face is that job creation does not give an accurate measurement of success (U.S. Government Publishing Office, 2017). A challenge of a business accelerator is that they are so highly selective, with only a few start-ups getting to enter the program. This means that out of all applicants, only a small number of start-ups are chosen to enter the accelerator program (Bone et al., 2019).

On the other hand, accelerators create value, not only for the team and the product but also for the ecosystem (Haines, 2014). They have a "positive spill-over effect on the wider business ecosystem" (Bone et al., 2019). Accelerator programs create an ecosystem, as the number of companies increases, so will the employment rate (Christiansen, 2009). The programs help start-up companies build their initial products, identify customers, and secure resources (Cohen, 2013). Recent studies have shown that accelerators have a positive effect on venture development (Fedher & Hochberg, 2014; Battistella et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2017; Garcia-Ochoa et al., 2021). Accelerators are said to increase the success rate of start-up companies (Bank & Kanda, 2016; Butz & Mrozewski, 2021). Start-ups that have gone through an accelerator program, have a 23% higher survival rate than other start-up companies (Regmi et al., 2015). Accelerators function as a way to shorten the journey of start-ups. However, this may lead to a faster growth or a faster failure for the nascent ventures (Clarysse et al., 2015).

#### 2.2 Digitalisation

#### 2.2.1 Digital entrepreneurship

Digital entrepreneurship is an essential part of innovation (Satalkina & Steiner, 2020), and was developed as a result of technological assets such as the internet and information and communication technology (Le Dinh et al., 2018). Entrepreneurship is linked with the actions of other entrepreneurs that are coordinated across platforms (Srinivasan & Venkatraman, 2018; Sahut et al., 2019). Digital entrepreneurship "is a subcategory of entrepreneurship in which some or all of what would be physical in a traditional organisation has been digitised" (Hull et al., 2007) and can be seen as "the reconciliation of traditional entrepreneurship with the new

### UiA Handelshøyskolen آی



way of creating and doing business in the digital era" (Le Dinh et al., 2018). Digital entrepreneurship can be defined as "the process of entrepreneurial creation of digital value through the use of various socio-technical digital enablers to support effective acquisition, processing, distribution, and consumption of digital information" (Sahut et al., 2019). Digital entrepreneurship consists of "the sale of digital products or services across electronic networks" (Guthrie, 2014). The terminology of digital entrepreneurship is not used in the same way in all articles. Some refer to digital entrepreneurship as 'digital venture', 'digital innovation', 'digital entreprise' or 'digital business' (Kraus et al., 2018). Entrepreneural knowledge is an important part of digital entrepreneurship as it shapes the processes within digital and business engagement (Satalkina & Steiner, 2020). Digital entrepreneurship has different degrees, and it is possible to differentiate between mild digital entrepreneurship, moderate digital entrepreneurship, and extreme digital entrepreneurship when looking at digital business models. It describes the degree to which businesses operate in the digital world (Hull et al., 2007; Liao et al., 2013). Mild digital entrepreneurship may focus on digital products, while extreme digital entrepreneurship does its whole business online (Kraus et al., 2018).

Digital entrepreneurship "builds on the existence or development of a digital ecosystem" (Kraus et al., 2018). A digital ecosystem is "a self-organising, scalable and sustainable system composed of heterogeneous digital entities and their interrelations focusing on interactions among entities to increase system utility, gain benefits, and promote information sharing, inner and inter cooperation and system innovation" (Li et al., 2012). Users of a digital ecosystem are everyone that has access to connected devices (Kraus et al., 2018), which in this time and age is nearly everybody. In this sense, digital ecosystems present terrific opportunities for entrepreneurs (Sussan & Acs, 2017). Even though digital entrepreneurship helps developing ventures, there are still some challenges. An obstacle is that there are high levels of uncertainty for nascent ventures. Other challenges include the difficulty of finding investors and establishing trust among market participants (Kraus et al., 2018).

#### 2.2.2 Digital transformation

Today, businesses are mostly digitalised as we live in a world where you can order almost everything online, both products and services. There are very few businesses today that are not operating digital in some way. The processes of digitalising businesses started in 2000 after more and more people got computers at home. By having access to the Internet, there is a massive amount of information that one has access to. As businesses will become more and more digitalised, there will not be a need to use the term 'digital' as digitalisation will be a norm



(Cassia, 2017). Digital transformation and business model innovation has changed expectations and behaviour in consumers as the access to information has increased. Consumer behaviour is changing as more online purchases are taking place, as opposed to physical purchases. This is affecting the sales of both digital and physical sales (Kannan & Li, 2017). With the increase of digital technologies, such as artificial intelligence (AI), there are more and more firms that transform their business digitally. Due to new digital technologies, the competition in the market is transforming rapidly. An increased number of digital businesses means that there will be increased competition and harder for nascent ventures to succeed (Verhoef et al., 2019).

Digital transformation can be defined as a "holistic effort to revise core processes and services of government beyond the traditional digitisation efforts" (Mergel et al., 2016). There are three stages of digital transformation: digitisation, digitalisation, and digital transformation (Verhoef et al., 2019). Digitisation involves becoming more effective and efficient in terms of processes and outputs (Mergel et al., 2016). It is defined as "the action to convert analogue information into digital information" (Mergel et al., 2016; Verhoef et al., 2019). It mainly "digitalises internal and external documentation processes but does not change value creation activities" (Verhoef et al., 2019). Digitalisation focuses on "potential changes in the processes beyond mere digitising of existing processes and forms" (Mergel et al., 2016). It describes how IT or digital technologies are applied to improve a company's internal processes (Li et al., 2012). In other words, firms apply digitalisation to improve existing business processes, which in turn may improve customer experiences (Verhoef et al., 2019). And lastly, digital transformation accentuates the "cultural, organisational, and relational changes" that are highlighted from the results (Mergel et al., 2016). In the process of digital transformation, many companies implement business model innovation (Verhoef et al., 2019).



Figure 1: Digital transformation (Source: Verhoef et al., 2019)



The figure above summarizes the concept of digital transformation and shows its external drivers, phases and strategic imperatives. Digital transformation introduces new business logic which creates and captures value. An important part of digital transformation is increased focus on IT and analytical functions (Verhoef et al., 2019).

#### 2.2.2.1 Stages of digital transformation

Digital transformation can be seen as a technical revolution (Perez, 2010; Mergel et al., 2016), and consists of six stages, which help to understand the term better.

*Business as usual* - This is the first stage, where businesses follow a specific plan that has little room for experimentation. In this plan, there are certain goals to be achieved as well as a fixed set of key performance indicators and business models. For a business to undergo a digital transformation, this plan has to change. Instead, a flexible approach may be implemented.

*Present and active* - This stage consists of conducting experiments to assess whether the processes of the company work or not. If they do work, and the company is closer to its goals, then the experiments have been successful, and the specific processes may be implemented in the whole organization.

*Formalized* - During this stage, experiments are more common and become more of a habit, which in turn leads to higher confidence and thus a higher success rate. This stage inhabits the starting point for the best outcomes.



*Strategic* - In this stage, there are collaborations across departments which in turn creates various perspectives and angles. These insights make it beneficial for everyone and can create new strategic plans for the organization.

*Converged* - During the penultimate phase, the team has to be focused on specific customeroriented goals. This is where the new organizational structure begins to form, and where the business is ready to transform digitally as roles, processes, and expertise are at work.

*Innovative and adaptive* - Lastly, in this stage, the efforts of the digital transformation display its real benefits as it becomes an essential part of the business (Hassan, 2020).

#### 2.2.2.2 Digital transformation barriers

Digital transformation occurs when innovation problems are solved through using telecommunication technology. The key building blocks for accelerating digital transformation are guiding innovation dynamics, building innovation capacity, and integrating information and communication technology into key sectors. However, there are many barriers to digital transformation, such as the lack of processes or methods to create policies supporting digital innovation and entrepreneurship, unclear roles of stakeholders, missing innovation capabilities, the incorporation of innovation ecosystems into the economy is not optimal, and lastly the impact of rapidly moving information and communication technology (ITU, 2018).

#### 2.2.2.3 Information and communication technology

Information and communication technology (ICT) is about "wireless and wired communications, the hardware and software related to them and their applications" (ITU, 2018). ICT is "a collection of technologies and applications which enable electronic processing, storing and transfer of information to a wide variety of users or clients" (Cohen et al., 2002). The term ICT "refers to various technological elements and solutions, which are used for the creation, transmission, storage, sharing and exchange of information" (UNESCO, n.d.; Damastichas & Daskalakis, 2020). ICT can therefore be defined as "electronic technologies and services used to process, store and disseminate information, facilitating the performance of information-related human activities, provided by, and serving the institutional and business sectors as well as the public-at-large" (Cohen et al., 2002). Another definition is "a diverse set of technological tools and resources used to transmit, store, create, share or exchange information" (UNESCO, 2009).

ICTs are characterised by containing dynamic technological changes, diminishing costs for new equipment, the fast growth of applications and penetration in several areas of professional and

### UiA Handelshøyskolen آی



personal life, an interconnected marketplace, and product and services depending on a broad spectre of qualities and skills from human resources (Cohen et al., 2002). ICT ventures may achieve their true capacity if they expand beyond their niche, which in turn enables transformation across other industries. Integration of ICT systems includes the development of innovation networks, supporting demand-side innovation, endorsing the right solution development, and encouraging cluster formation regarding related industries (ITU, 2018). Evidently, there are multiple benefits of ICT. However, there are yet challenges and barriers concerning the use of ICT. The challenges of ICT are consumer attitude, corporate responsibility, cooperation and trust, data uncertainty, environmental impact, information use, lack of capacity, policies, product design, and security (Demestichas & Daskalakis, 2020).

#### 2.2.3 Transformation of internal processes

#### 2.2.3.1 Change management

Change is an important aspect when talking about digitalising parts or whole processes of an organisational structure. Change management is therefore relevant when discussing the digitalisation of processes of an accelerator program. Change management has been defined as "the process of continually renewing an organisation's direction, structure, and capabilities to serve the ever-changing needs of external and internal customers" (Moran & Brightman, 2001). Even though this definition may be old, it is still relevant and has been cited in recent years such as by Hornstein (2015). There have also been other definitions of change management such as "the application of a structured process and set of tools for leading the people side of change to achieve the desired business outcome; it is both a process and a competency" (Creasy, 2018), and "the process of collecting the right information about the impediments to change and removing them by assuaging organizational members' fears and uncertainties" (Graetz & Smith, 2010). Therefore, change management is "a task that is primarily directed inward (...) towards the members of the organization or company undergoing change". The aim is to internally apply an ideal adjustment to the external changes (Lauer, 2021, p. 4).

Change management consists of three aspects: organisations, people, and projects (Galli, 2018). It aims to increase economic efficiency (Lauer, 2021, p. 4). Change management usually indicates that the management of change, can be related to three points: 1) Individuals: change is not possible without the smallest social elements of organizations. 2) Corporate structures: include the formal structural and process organizations, strategies, and resources. 3) Corporate culture (Lauer, 2021, p. 6-7). An important part of change management is communication, as communication is the key to transporting information (Lauer, 2021, p. 70). However,



communication alone is not enough for the success of the implementation of change (Lauer, 2021, p. 122). There have been identified two main success factors of change management: 1) Delivering a clear direction for change, and 2) The motivation of the employees. If there is a clear vision for where the change will lead, and the employees of the company are intrinsically motivated, then the change will be successful (Lauer, 2021, p. 109-110). Another research has identified six critical factors so that the implementation of change will be successful in an organizational context. These six factors are: "shared change purpose, effective change leadership, powerful engagement processes, committed local sponsors, strong personal connection, and sustained personal performance" (Errida & Lotfi, 2021).

#### 2.2.3.2 Business process management

Business process management (BPM) is a management idea that focuses on the processes of a business and how to change these for the better. Organisations perform better when they pay attention to their business processes (Reijers, 2021). BPM dates back to the beginning of the 1990s when organisations began to realise the value of IT investments from changes in business processes and work practices (Van der Aalst et al., 2016).

A business process can be regarded as "an activity that links the operations of an organisation to the requirements of its customers" (IMI, 1994). BPM aligns the business processes with the objectives and needs of the customer (Lee & Dale, 1998), and is an "approach to analyse, improve, control, and manage processes with the aim of improving the quality of products and services" (Elzinga et al., 1995). BPM can be defined as "a structured approach to analyse and continually improve fundamental activities such as manufacturing, marketing, communications and other major elements of a company's operations" (Zairi, 1997). Furthermore, BPM is a "software system that is driven by explicit process designs to enact and manage operational business processes" (Van der Aalst et al., 2003), and supports "business processes using methods, techniques, and software to design, enact, control, and analyse operational processes involving humans, organizations, applications, documents and other sources of information" (Van der Aalst, 2004). There are many definitions of BPM, but the main characteristics are that BPM is structured, analytical, cross-functional, and a continuous improvement of processes (Lee & Dale, 1998). BPM is a customer-focused approach that offers options for an organisation to improve (DeToro & McCabe, 1997). The drivers for adopting BPM are globalisation, changing technology, regulation, the action of stakeholders and the eroding business of boundaries (Lee & Dale, 1998). In recent years, BPM has become more of a mature discipline



that has well-grounded methods and tools that are a part of improving business processes (Van der Aalst et al., 2016).

### 2.3 Theoretical lens: Actor Network Theory

#### 2.3.1 Defining Actor Network Theory

Scholars are increasingly using actor network theory (ANT) when investigating aspects relating to digital production (Othman, 2019; Stalph, 2019; Ryfe, 2022). ANT was developed in the 1980s in the context of the sociology of science, technology and innovation. ANT claims that technology and society are essentially interconnected (Waldherr et al., 2019), and is relevant in relation to innovation and the use of information and communication technology (ICT). As there is a lack of knowledge about the digitalisation of services (Chowdhury, 2017), the concept of ANT is applicable in this case. Actor network theory is a version of semiotics, which states that entities take their own form and attain their properties due to interaction with other entities (Law & Hassard, 1999, p. 3). Many claim that ANT is not a theory at all, due to its descriptive rather than explanatory nature (Law, 2008). Rather, ANT is a type of ethnomethodology (Latour, 1999; Ryfe, 2022). In terms of measurement in the ANT perspective, the vicinity within networks of time and space is an important aspect (Murdoch, 1998; Wang & Yau, 2018). Law, who is a contributor to ANT, stated that "entities achieve their form as a consequence of the relations in which they are located" and that "they are performed in, by, and through those relations" (Law and Hassard, 1999, p.4).

ANT is an important perspective in terms of looking at digital media environments and communication, as well as technological changes. It goes beyond focusing on technology as a power tool that shapes social behaviour, as ANT assumes that technology has a life of its own. Technology is seen as an independent actor that can take its own actions. In other words, the ANT perspective "indicates that we study technical actors as actors in their own right who participate in and bring change to social interactions" (Waldherr et al., 2019).

#### 2.3.2 Actors and mediators

Actors and networks are considered categories that are opposites of each other. A network can be defined by its actors and associations, and an actor is therefore defined by its network (Latour, 2011; Waldherr et al., 2019). The difference between actors and mediators is determined based on their stance in a network. An actor can be a human or a non-human entity, which uses mediators (Outila & Kiuru, 2021). ANT explains how actors form alliances, involve

### UiA Handelshøyskolen آی



other actors, and use non-human actors to strengthen alliances (Chowdhury, 2017). In terms of ANT, an actor can be defined as "any thing that does modify a state of affairs by making a difference" (Latour, 2005, p. 71), and "something that acts or to which activity is granted by others" (Latour, 1996; Waldherr er al., 2019). A mediator can be a text, artefact, human entity, materials, or bodies which define the roles of entities (Leskinen, 1994; Outila & Kiuru, 2021). Mediators have the ability to "transform, translate, distort, and modify the meaning or the elements they are supposed to carry" (Latour, 2005, p. 39; Outila & Kiuru, 2021). Therefore, central parts of ANT are actants or actors, intermediators and mediators, translations, and networks. Networks are seen as dynamic entities where actors and actions are created (Leskinen, 1994; Outila & Kiuru, 2021).

#### 2.3.3 Translation in ANT

Furthermore, a network in ANT can be regarded as a series of translations (Latour, 1999, p. 15) or a "mechanism by which social and natural realities are shaped continuously" (Leskinen, 1994; Outila & Kiuru, 2021). Translation involves the connections between entities in networks (Callon, 1991, p. 143), and leads to mutual alterations of actions in the network (Waldherr et al., 2019). ANT requires an act of translation (Ryfe, 2022). This process can be defined as "the method by which a main actor enrols other actors to form an actor-network" (Lee & Oh 2006). Another definition of translation is "the process or the work of making two things that are not the same, equivalent" (Law, 1999). It is argued that "every act of translation is also a traduction, or betrayal" since actors can gain allies to their cause by committing acts of betrayal by "convincing others that their account is the truth" (Ryfe, 2022) or by competing to turn "matters of concern into matters of fact" (Latour, 2005; Ryfe, 2022).

The phases of translation consist of problematisation, interessement, enrolment, and mobilisation (Callon, 1986; Chowdhury, 2017; Sage et al., 2020). Problematisation introduces a problem or an opportunity by the main actor, and other actors are supposed to find solutions to this problem (Chowdhury, 2017). Interessement consists of getting other actors interested in the solutions suggested by the main actor (Rodon et al., 2008), stopping competing associations, and forming alliances (Callon, 1986; Mähring et al., 2004; Rodon et al., 2008; Chowdhury, 2017). Enrolment includes a multitude of negotiations, in order to achieve success (Callon, 1986; Rodon et al., 2008; Chowdhury, 2017). Lastly, mobilisation is about finding ideal representatives as the spokespersons for the entire actor-network (Callon, 1986; Chowdhury, 2017), and involves the existence of a stable network of actors (Callon, 1986; Sage et al., 2020).



#### 2.3.4 Relevance of ANT

ANT presents a complete and comprehensive perspective of the social by highlighting "the need to turn away from exclusively analysing humans by integrating nonhuman actors into our understanding of social order". This theory has become more relevant in the present as ANT has "gained strong relevance in our contemporary mediatised, datafied, and algorithmitised societies" (Waldherr et al., 2019).

### 2.4 Theoretical framework

The concept of a business accelerator has been explored through the literature review based on previous research. Since the case study company can be seen as a type of accelerator or startup assistance organisation, the different types of accelerators that are relevant have been explained. Another aspect that has been looked at in more detail, is digitalisation. By using digitalisation, analogue processes can be transformed into digital processes. Therefore, digital entrepreneurship, digital transformation, ICT, and other related theory has been discussed as it is vital in the investigation of to what extent one can digitalise processes in an accelerator company. Lastly, actor network theory (ANT) has been explained and will be used as the theoretical lens in this thesis. Through the concept of translation from ANT, a suggestion for the implementation of digitalisation will be discussed.

There are few digital business accelerators out there, especially in Norway. By investigating how a particular accelerator company can digitalise its processes and services, the efficiency of the accelerator may increase and in turn provide knowledge to other accelerator companies wanting to digitally transform their business.

### 3. Methodology

The purpose of this chapter is to present the methodology of this study, which in turn will make it easier to answer the research questions. The procedure of the study will be explained by discussing the research approach, research design, research strategy, data collection, data analysis, and the research quality.



### 3.1 Research design and strategy

#### **3.1.1 Research approach**

This study aimed to investigate which processes and related services can be digitalised in an accelerator company. The purpose of this research was to examine the experiences related to the collaboration between the accelerator company and the start-up companies. To conclude whether it is possible to digitalise the processes and their related services fully or partially, knowledge about these services needed to be mapped out through primary data collection. The type of research methodology used in this thesis is exploratory research approach. Exploratory research is often used when the existing research results are unclear or have limitations, or there is not enough theory available in order to develop a theoretical framework. This type of approach is often used in terms of qualitative data collection, such as through interviews (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 43). The type of data gathered was qualitative data and was conducted under controlled observation since data was gathered through interviews. Qualitative data is "data in the form of words" (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 332).

Furthermore, inductive reasoning was used as a research approach in this thesis. Inductive reasoning is a process where specific phenomena are being observed, and from this basis, one may formulate general conclusions (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 26). Since interview data is collected, an inductive approach was suitable in terms of looking for patterns across the interviews. The purposes of using an inductive approach are to get short summaries of comprehensive information out of the raw data gathered, establish links between research objectives and findings from the data gathered, and develop a framework from the findings. Compared to an inductive approach, a deductive approach focuses more on the analyses of experimental and hypotheses testing. Since an inductive approach is more suitable for this study, there will not be any hypotheses to be tested as the primary data gathered will be used to extract concepts and themes (Thomas, 2006).

This study will contribute to information regarding accelerator companies and start-up assistance organisations, particularly in the Agder-region of Norway, and improve the general knowledge about this. Furthermore, mapping out the processes and services offered, use of resources, and analysing what parts may be digitalised, can make an important contribution to the research literature on entrepreneurship, digitalisation, business development and innovation. The purpose of this study is to identify opportunities for the digitalisation of accelerator companies.



#### 3.1.2 Research design

A research design is a "plan for the collection, measurement, and analysis of data, created to answer the research questions" (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 95), and is what "links the data to be collected to the initial questions of study" (Yin, 2009, p. 24). The unit of analysis of the research is organisations. The unit of analysis is the "level of aggregation of the data collected during the subsequent data analysis stage" (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 102). In other words, the unit of analysis is where the data is being gathered from. Organisations as a unit of analysis is therefore evident due to the research being a case study. The time horizon of the research was a cross-sectional study as the information gathered through the interviews took place over a couple of days.

Kristiansand is a city with few accelerator companies. The company Moment was therefore chosen for this case study as they seemed like a different sort of accelerator company than the others one may find in this area. The data collection would therefore be gathered at the location of the case company's offices. Interviews were used as a method of gathering data, as this method is the most common (Jamshed, 2014) and effective type for qualitative research. When choosing which start-ups to interview, the case company contributed with four of the start-up ventures they were collaborating with and therefore were assumed to be the best ones to interview. The interview questions were made some time in advance and sent to NSD (Norwegian Centre for Research Data) for approval in terms of research topic and method of data collection. After the approval from NSD was received, the interviews could be scheduled and conducted.

#### **3.1.3 Research strategy**

Research strategy is an element of research design and is about having a plan to achieve a certain goal (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 97). The research strategy was chosen based on the limited time of the thesis and the resources available. In this research, a case study was used as a strategy due to focusing only on one accelerator company. Case studies are a type of research strategy that collect information about a particular object, event or activity. An example of a case study is an organisation (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 98). A case study may be defined as a research strategy that contains an empirical investigation of a specific phenomenon that uses multiple data collection methods (Yin, 2009; Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). The methodology of this thesis is small scale since the approach is a case study. Primary data was going to be collected through in-depth interviews. Interviews are a great way to obtain information on a particular subject. Interviews can "establish rapport and motivate respondents" as well as



reading nonverbal cues from the respondents (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 113-123). Furthermore, by investigating this particular case company, their internal processes and related services may be mapped out as well as looking at how they can digitalise these processes and services. Also, looking at how digitalisation may make their processes more effective, as well as the advantages of digitalisation from the case company's point of view.

#### 3.2 Case company

The company chosen for this case study is the Kristiansand-based company Moment, which is a private organisation that helps nascent ventures in terms of the growth and prosperity of their ventures. They help innovative companies to reach "their full potential through active ownership, networks, and capital". Working alongside the nascent ventures, Moment makes their process a little more hands-on during the growth process (Moment, n.d.).

Moment is a fast-growing accelerator environment for start-up companies and established companies with scaling potential. They exercise active ownership in their portfolio companies, where they combine different competencies, networks, access to capital, and office facilities (Moment, 2019). Their collaboration/program begins with a recruitment pool, where small and medium-sized companies, entrepreneurs, and start-up companies file applications, and from there they select the companies that are entering their portfolio. Moment is "always looking for the most exciting and innovative growth and start-up companies" that want to develop their company or ideas further. They are looking for start-up companies that "enjoy working as a team and are willing to adjust their needs and achieve set goals" (Moment, n.d.). Their consulting services start by defining the problem and the opportunity of a start-up company. Afterwards, they validate the customer needs, and further help develop ideas into solutions. This first phase usually lasts for about four weeks. The next phase is validating the start-up's business model, which normally takes three months. Finally, the last phase is about scaling the company by the use of a dedicated team. The last phase does not have a set ending date, and the cooperation may therefore continue until no longer needed (Moment, 2020).

The main services Moment has to offer are application writing, capital, goal achievement, and competence. Moment holds competence in application writing, helping start-up companies write applications for national and international policy instruments/support systems. They invest their capital and time in the start-ups and work on a hands-on approach to find the right financial basis for the start-ups' growth. This includes private investor capital, public grant



schemes and financial institutions. Goal achievement is reached through the right competence and continuous momentum. Hence, Moment offers a different type of innovation environment where expertise from entrepreneurship, business development, project management, and growth strategies are combined (Moment, n.d.).

### **3.3 Data collection and analysis**

#### 3.3.1 Data collection

In this study, qualitative data analysis was used. As this is a case study, the scope is fixed on one particular company. The method of gathering information was through interviews, particularly focused interviews where participants are interviewed for a short period of time. Interviews are "one of the most important sources of case study information" (Yin, 2009, p. 106-107), and contribute to rich sources of data gathering in a case study. Interviews may offer information from a diverse set of perspectives (Singh, 2014), and is also a type of primary data collection method (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 111). Interview as a type of data collection method also seemed more suitable than a focus group as one may gather more information and details through a set of interviews (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 122). The explicit assumptions made in this study were that the case company wanted to become more digital in a pandemic era where almost everything takes place online, what processes and services can be digitalised, and how the digitalisation of processes can increase efficiency.

To prepare for the interviews with the start-up companies, as well as the case company, the interview guide was created from relevant topics found during the making of the literature review of the thesis. From the specific research questions of this thesis, the interview topics were formulated, and from there, the interview questions were made. The interview guide was reviewed, and issues were identified and revised into a finalised set of interview questions based on recommendations from Bryman and Bell (2015) (see Appendix A). The interview guide (see Appendix B) contained both general questions for the participants to answer to get more information regarding answering the research questions. The interview questions were categorised by topic, which includes services and resources received, digital tools, and digitalisation. Additionally, the process of sample selection was done in terms of getting handed the contact information of several start-up companies, that were collaborating with the case company at the time of the research period, from the case company. As a result, there was no need to go through the procedure of selecting volunteers because they were given. Before the

### UiA Handelshøyskolen آی



interviews, the participants were sent an e-mail where the purpose, background, and topic of the study were explained. They were also sent the letter inviting them to voluntarily participate, as well as the interview guide so that they could have some time to prepare before the interview.

The interviews started with an introduction of the problem statement of the thesis, followed by informing that the interviews were being recorded. They were also informed about the process of making participants anonymous, as well as reminding them that their participation is voluntary and that they can withdraw from the research at any point. As mentioned earlier, the research method used is an exploratory approach. Furthermore, the interviews were conducted in a non-contrived setting. Non-contrived settings are "natural environments where events proceed normally", such as an office (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 100). The interviews were conducted in private meeting rooms in the offices of the case company, where we wouldn't be disturbed, and the participants could take their needed time answering the questions. A Dictaphone was used to record the interviews and was placed in the middle of the room, being able to record each individual. At the end of the interviews, the participants were asked if they wanted to summarise the most important points being discussed, as well as if they had any concluding remarks.

There was conducted one interview for each of the start-up companies, in total four interviews with the start-up companies. Each interview lasted on average 35 minutes, no longer than one hour per interview. There were also conducted two recorded interviews with the case company, which lasted approximately one hour each. There was also a table containing a list of services generally being offered by accelerator companies, that was sent to the case company so that they could map out the services they offer to start-up companies.

There are three types of interviews in terms of structure. Unstructured interviews are interviews that do not contain a planned sequence of questions that are going to be asked. Structured interviews, on the other hand, are interviews that are conducted knowing the information that is needed. There is typically an introduction, a set of topics with questions, as well as follow-up questions which are planned and written beforehand (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 113-115). The third type of interview is a semi-structured interview where there is an outline of topics to be covered as well as suggested questions, but the questions are not asked in a particular order (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009, p. 130). The types of interviews that were conducted were structured interviews with the four start-up companies, as well as one semi-structured and one structured interview with the case company. The first interview with the case company was done semi-structured as they wanted to explain what their company does before beginning to

### UiA Handelshøyskolen آی



answer questions. In this process, they ended up answering many of the questions intended to be asked, without having asked these. Therefore, this interview was semi-structured. The second interview with the case company consisted of asking the remaining questions that were not asked in the first interview, and which were needed to answer the research questions. The interviews were conducted face-to-face, except for one interview with a start-up company that was done through Microsoft Teams. All interviews were intended to be conducted face to face, if possible. The purpose of the interviews was to gather information from the participants that distinguished their experiences from each other so that data could be compared.

#### 3.3.2 Data analysis

The interviews were recorded using a Dictaphone. After the interviews, the audio files were uploaded to the University of Agder's external drive. After the files were uploaded to OneDrive, the files were deleted from the memory card of the Dictaphone. The Dictaphone was borrowed from the University and therefore returned after being used for the interviews where the University destroyed the memory card. Furthermore, the audio files were transcribed manually into unstructured data and translated from Norwegian to English. When gathering qualitative data, there are three steps: data reduction, data display, and drawing conclusions from this data. Data reduction is the "process of selecting, coding, and categorising data". This means that the information from the interviews was gathered together and rearranged to form theory (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 333-334). Afterwards, the transcribed and translated unstructured data was gathered into one file where the information was structured and categorised in terms of the order of questions from the interview guide, which is common practice when utilising an inductive approach. Furthermore, data display refers to presenting data and involves taking the reduced data and displaying it in an organised way (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 333 & p. 347). The data from the interviews was therefore condensed without losing context and displayed in a table by sorting the data based on the interview questions. In other words, the structured data was collected into an Excel file so that each answer could be compared in a structured table. The final step of gathering qualitative data consists of drawing conclusions from the data gathered from the interviews, which will be presented in the next chapter regarding the findings. In terms of analysing the second research question, the research followed the Gioia method, analysing the inductive and qualitative interview data, as the Gioia method tends to be used in single case studies. The transcripts were analysed by highlighting the most important parts to further analyse this. Thereby, the data was selected, coded and categorised based on RQ2. The



data was then organised into first-order categories and second-order themes, and then the aggregate dimensions were identified through those categories and themes (Yong et al., 2021).

### 3.4 Research quality

#### 3.4.1 Reliability and validity

When analysing the quality of the research, it is important that the conclusions made in the study are verified in some way. The conclusions need to be plausible, reliable and valid (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 348). Reliability refers to how the same researchers can observe the same event and get the same results, on separate occasions (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 137), and is therefore about stability and consistency of measurement (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 220). The goal is to reduce the errors and biases as much as possible in a research project (Yin, 2009, p. 45). By describing the details of how this research was conducted, other researchers can replicate the study, and in turn, prove reliability of the case study process. Any form of bias was also diminished as I had not met the participating start-up companies beforehand thereby establishing a process and recognizing any potential biases that may emerge throughout the interview processes. Furthermore, the description of the case study was structured in terms of the research questions, which makes it easier for the reader to discover the conclusions correlated to the empirical evidence (Singh, 2014).

Trustworthiness is another aspect of reliability. There are four types of trustworthiness in qualitative research: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). In the process of collecting the data through a set of interviews, we were two students working together. When transcribing these interviews, we each transcribed half of the contents of the interviews. Afterwards, we combined our parts of the transcripts and read through everything independently while listening to the audio again. This way we provided a quantified reliability check, which in turn strengthened the trustworthiness of the study (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009, p. 183-184). Furthermore, all participants had administrative roles in their own companies and the answers seemed more credible and reliable. By describing all the stages of the research in detail, the transferability of the study is strengthened, which in turn provides increased trustworthiness and reliability to the thesis.

Validity refers to the accuracy of the recorded data gathered (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 137). In other words, validity is about measuring the right concept (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 220). In terms of interview transcripts, finding the validity is more complicated than finding the



reliability (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009, p. 185). Providing a detailed description of the methodology of this research project enhances the validity of the research (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 349). Validation of the data collection through interviews can be broken down into seven stages: thematizing, designing, interviewing, transcribing, analysing, validating, and reporting (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009, p. 248-249). As mentioned earlier, the data gathered through the interviews was categorised and structured into a table where it could be analysed, validating the information, and from there being able to draw conclusions, which in turn supported the validity of the research methodology.

Through the interviews, the start-up companies answered similarly to a lot of the same questions, and therefore the communicative validity was strengthened (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009, p. 253). By comparing the various answers from the interview questions, it increased the validity of the results due to the overlapping answers. There was also made a table listing different accelerator services, sent to the case company so that they could list the services they provide, thereby being able to cross-reference the services listed from the start-up companies and increasing the validity of the results of the study may benefit a variety of accelerator companies in terms of which processes may be digitalised, the results seem to be transferable to other situations (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009, p. 260-261).

#### **3.4.2 Ethical considerations**

When conducting interviews as a method of data collection, there are some ethical considerations to take into account such as the "importance of informed consent, confidentiality, consequences, and the researcher's role" (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009, p. 61). After getting approval from NSD (Norwegian Centre for Research Data), the interviews were scheduled. When contacting the start-up companies, they were sent an informed consent, which consisted of a request or invitation for participation in the research project which each company had to sign, as mentioned earlier. The informed consent stated the purpose of the study and its research objectives. It also gave interviewees information about who is conducting the interviews (myself and a co-student), who the supervisor of the thesis is, what it means to participate and why they are being asked to participate, as well as information about confidentiality. Confidentiality implies that the data gathered than can be used to identify participants, will not be disclosed. Interviewees were informed that it is completely voluntary to participate and that they can withdraw their participation at any time in the research period (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009, p. 70-73). They were informed that the interviews were going to

### UiA Handelshøyskolen آی



be recorded, but that the recordings were going to be deleted by the end of May. Furthermore, the participation of the start-ups would be completely anonymous as companies and personal names would not be mentioned in the thesis.

Another ethical consideration is the consequences of a qualitative research study. Consequences involve that the "benefits to a participant and the importance of the knowledge gained should outweigh the risk of harm to the participant", referring to the responsibility of the researcher (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009, p. 73). As this was a case study investigating the processes of an accelerator company, the participating start-ups were not asked questions about their own companies, and they were therefore not disclosing any potentially sensitive information about their own ventures. Furthermore, the focus of processes and how these may be digitalised did not require any sensitive information regarding individuals or the case company in focus of this study, thereby decreasing any potential consequences in the execution of the data collection. Additionally, the role of the researcher is critical in terms of research quality. The interviews were conducted with as much integrity and reliability of ethical decisions (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009, p. 74). The interviews were conducted in private rooms in the offices of the case company so that no one would disturb and potentially listen in on the interviews, in turn, not making the participants feel nervous or uncomfortable. As a result, ethical interview considerations were made. The participants were also made sure that the transcripts would not mention any names, thereby making them anonymous, and in turn respecting their privacy, confidentiality, and voluntary participation, as previously mentioned. Finally, another ethical consideration that was taken into account includes that I had personally no previous contact or relationship with the case company, decreasing any potential bias in this context, and therefore being able to mentally withdraw from the field of study. I had not met the participating start-ups before conducting the interviews, which made me fair and impartial.

#### 3.4.3 Limitations

The chosen research approaches selected for this study seemed to fit the best in terms of the research objectives of the thesis. However, they possess some limitations. An exploratory research approach is ideal when conducting a case study as it is flexible in nature (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 43). Exploratory research can narrow down challenging problems and be a good guide for future research. On the other hand, it does not have conclusive results, bias may occur, and is typically not generalisable (George, 2021). Moreover, qualitative research is used when the analysis is composed of "data in the form of words" as previously mentioned and is aimed at making implications from a large amount of collected data (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016,



p. 332). Also, the framework of the data gathered can be done effortlessly. On the downside, a qualitative research approach can become problematic to demonstrate, data analysis may take a longer time compared to a quantitative approach, and answers from participants may be affected by the researchers (WeeTech Solution, n.d.).

There are both strengths and limitations to the methods one may choose in terms of a research paper. Choosing interviews as a form of collecting data, there are both advantages and disadvantages to this method. The strengths of interviews are that they are targeted in terms of focusing on a particular case study topic and that they are insightful in terms of providing causal interpretations and explanations. On the downside, the weaknesses of interviews are that bias may arise due to poorly formulated questions, there may be response bias, inaccuracies, and reflexivity - meaning that the interviewee says the things that the interviewer wants to hear (Yin, 2009, p. 102). If we are looking at different types of interviews, it seems that face-to-face interviews are the best to conduct. First, the advantages of choosing a face-to-face interview are that one may read more into the non-verbal cues, people might answer more than the questions, one may clear any doubts, add follow-up questions, and rich data can be attained. However, the disadvantages of face-to-face interviews include that it takes longer time than a digital interview, confidentiality may be a concern of the participants, and it may introduce interviewer bias. On the other hand, there are telephone interviews, which cost less and take less time. The disadvantages of these types of interviews, however, are that one cannot read non-verbal cues, interviews must be kept short, and there will not be the same personal connection and feeling as face-to-face interviews (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 123).

Some limitations regarding research in the business field, such as with a case study, are that the results might not be exact or free or errors as the interviewees' emotions, feelings and/or perceptions might make it difficult to attain the data sample (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 27). Using a case study as a method has other limitations as well, and great concern has been over a lack of rigor. Rigor means establishing trust in terms of the research being conducted. The case study investigator may be sloppy and not follow procedures systematically, or the findings of the study may be prone to bias (Yin, 2009, p. 14). There is also a limitation with focusing on a single case company, compared to multiple cases. Single cases have limitations such as generalisability and multiple information-processing biases (Eisenhardt, 1989; Singh, 2014).



### 4. Findings

The data collected was gathered through four interviews with the start-up companies, and two interviews with the case company. All six interviews were recorded and transcribed. There was also collected data from a table of services offered, which was filled out by the case company, as mentioned in the methodology. The transcripts are not entirely like the audio as pauses and unnecessary words were removed but written with the same sense, not losing any context of what was being said. Direct quotations from the transcripts are italicised. The data gatherings are being presented in this chapter and will be further discussed in the next chapter.

### 4.1 Data gathered from interviews with the start-up companies

The following subchapter presents the data collected from the structured interviews with the four start-up companies. The data is presented in terms of each company, followed by a list of the services they all received.

#### 4.1.1 Start-up company 1

The first start-up company that was interviewed wanted to collaborate with Moment as they *"lacked the business construction, knowledge of investment, and the economical aspect"*. They got a lot of *"advice in the beginning about the setup and how to deal with it in the market"*, as well as getting in touch with Moment's network. They got advice on how to *"communicate better and in an easier way"*.

The services offered were composed of three phases. The first phase was an advisory or counselling phase that consisted of a "workshop that took place over three days". This was a condensed workshop that Moment usually conducts over the time span of a couple of weeks, but which they did intensely for three days instead. In this workshop, the facilitator took their "thoughts and specified them" and illustrated this as a simplified map on the whiteboard. From there "a message was formulated" which they could "present and be proud of". The first phase also consisted of mainly "market communication and business approach", such as how to "make better presentations and investor presentations". They also received already-made presentations from Moment that they could use. The second phase consisted of the financial part where there was more financial advice, business and investor pitches, share issues, investor money, support schemes and helping to write applications to support schemes, such as Innovasjon Norge (Norwegian innovation funds). Moment also invested in them, owning shares in their company, and getting in touch with Moment's network. In terms of pitching, the input


received was about sparring. Moment has also "*participated in meetings*" with them, taking the roles of "*advisor and facilitator*". Finally, the third phase was about "*the customer approach and the customer access*".

The first phase was more of a standardised program, where they followed a certain structure and methodology. While the other phases were more adapted to the start-up company's own context and knowledge, and therefore not so standardised. The company was "not in the earliest of start-up phase" when the collaboration started, but rather in the next stage after that. The collaboration with Moment has been "an eternal learning process". They have collaborated with Moment for "approximately one year, and the services received were very crucial" for each phase they were in. In terms of how much of the growth of their company is due to Moment's services as opposed to natural growth, "you'll be able to halve the time if you're going to be a little specific". In other words, they "halved the time to get to a final result". The start-up company "would still be messing around in the same context, spending much longer getting to where" they have come now if they did not collaborate with the case company. The collaboration is ongoing.

In terms of digital tools, they were not recommended anything particular from the case company. Moment did not use any digital tools either when they were delivering the services, as everything happened in physical meetings with maps on the whiteboard. They perceive Moment as a company that *"is not very digital"*. The case company could have *"digitalised the whole exercise on the whiteboard"*, as it was difficult for the start-up venture *"to take pictures of the board all the time and trying to understand the lines"* that were drawn. It would be more efficient to have this map on a digital platform, where it would be easier to access and easier to interpret. They believe that Moment could have run a standardised and digital *"financial program on what is recommended around share issues"*, the parts with investors, what tools to use, opportunities that exist, and more effective online communication. Thereby having more digital tools and programs, but also having the physical meetings as one cannot digitalise *"human communication, chemistry and openness"*. Everything can essentially be digitalised.

#### 4.1.2 Start-up company 2

They started with an idea in their very early start-up phase and went to another accelerator company that helps out start-ups in the earliest phase. Then they were introduced to Moment. In the beginning, Moment was not as helpful. But after having complained to the management,

## UiA Handelshøyskolen آی



they "*adjusted their work methodology and communication*" between them. From there, it turned, and they got the guidance and advice they were expected to get.

The services they received consisted of business development and financial consultation. The business development services consisted of "*identifying the market, differentiating*" where they should go, "*specifying things, and how to tackle their growth*". Another service was "*having access to sparring partners that are at the offices*", which has been "of great value" for them. The financial services have also been of great value to the company. The relationship between them and the case company consists "more of a colleague relationship" than a collaboration. They have offices at Moment, which they pay for, and if there is something they are struggling with internally in their company, they can just "knock on Moment's door and ask for advice". They "work very closely together".

There are not any structured or planned meetings. "Strategy meetings take place spontaneously around the office" when the start-up company requires advice and guidance. Furthermore, the services received were "not standardised at all". There was "not a specific program" that was run. "More structure and planning" would be something that could improve the services received. The follow-up from Moment is also something that is lacking from their point of view, as there are "no structured follow-ups". Moment is more of an accelerator for start-up companies that have gone past the very earliest stage of being a start-up, and therefore collaborating with companies that are in the second stage of their company's development and growth. The company has worked with Moment for about two years, but "the second year has been of more value" in terms of the growth of the company. They pay for having their office there, which "includes advice and guidance". Moment also owns shares in the company. The collaboration has been of great value, as they would not have come as far without the services delivered by Moment.

In relation to digitalisation, Moment made "an attempt to offer digital services through a portal called Moment Digital, but this was never fully carried out". In terms of digitalisation of the services, they would like to have "some sort of diagnostic service that could check the financial health of the company" instead of sitting down in a physical meeting "using three hours to figure out how the company is doing financially". However, the physical strategy meetings that "were mapped out on the board should be kept physical as they are very tangible and work very well" for them. Some digitalisation is good, such as digitalising CRM (customer relationship management) systems, but not everything should be digital as there is still a need



for human connection etc. Therefore, they do not think the digital services they received would be as useful in digital form, as Moment are *"a little more hands-on"* in their methodology.

### 4.1.3 Start-up company 3

The third venture that was interviewed began the collaboration with Moment due to being in *"the start-up phase of the company"*, and they *"needed an investor"*. They also wanted someone they *"could spar with along the way"*. Moment has shares in this company, as well as *"being on the board"* and advising them on internal matters. Their *"input is based on meetings, activity, telephone conversations and board meetings"*. The collaboration has resulted in increased capital and has met their expectations of Moment. However, they have not received as many services as other start-up ventures as Moment has been helping them more with the financial parts.

In terms of digital tools, they "haven't used many, except the usual", such as the Microsoft Office Suite and Microsoft Teams. Since they haven't used many of the services that Moment offers, they can't specifically answer which services could have been changed in their point of view. In terms of which services that can be digitalised, they mentioned that "services around shareholder agreements and share issues can be digitalised", such as maybe having already-made templates in terms of shareholder agreements that one can just fill out with their own information. There could also be a "common portal of registering hours where one can see how many hours the company has used" with Moment, which includes a system that allows you "to keep track of consumption, and what to do next". Also, there "could be a platform with investors, such as LinkedIn just that it is with investors". If there would be a digital platform for the start-ups, it would not increase the risk of knowledge of their company as their "financial information is public, and they don't have any patented products".

#### 4.1.4 Start-up company 4

In the beginning, they "were looking for some offices and visited Moment" and thereby got information regarding what they do. The start-up wanted to get "access to more customers and sparring partners", and from there the collaboration started. Before collaborating with Moment, they went through another accelerator program, which was more of a typical accelerator program.

Moment got them established by helping them "narrow down their market and working on their business model". They had a "workshop in the very beginning that lasted for three to four weeks, which was more intense" than the rest of the guidance they received. They were handed



out assigned tasks which they had to do, such as "contacting customers and working with strategy within the team". There were also many strategy meetings, and they were offered "project management services, networking as a service, strategic or business development services, figuring out their value proposition, and customer communication approach". The value proposition process was composed of delivering "services within innovation, sustainability, and digitalisation". In terms of networking services, Moment put them "in contact with potential customers, which again lead to other potential customers, thereby creating a snowball effect" in terms of customer access. Regarding the project management services, they were "handed a project to work on and complete" on behalf of Moment. The strategic business development services consisted of "workshops conducted with different people from Moment that had a different range of skill sets". Furthermore, the workshops received from the beginning, were "the only standardised services. The rest were not as standardised, as it was more dynamic" and adapted to their particular context. If the services were to be changed, they would like more structure in the strategy phase.

In terms of digital tools, they used some digital tools, such as the Microsoft Office Suite, "business model canvas, digital whiteboards, and CRM systems". Otherwise, they were not recommended to use any digital tools concerning their assigned tasks. In terms of digitalising the services, Moment could "have a platform where you could find people with different expertise around Norway", thereby expanding your network. Moment could also have a fundraising platform. On the other hand, "it is difficult to digitalise Moment's experience and know-how", as well as their method of market communication. If the services offered would be in a digital form, some of them would be just as useful, but not the previously mentioned, i.e., the experience and know-how.

Digitalisation would not increase the risk of unique knowledge in their company so much, as their "company is at risk already" in a way since they "offer services in the form of knowledge and competence" from their employees. Their concern is rather keeping their employees, as they are the primary resource. They have collaborated with Moment for approximately two years, and the services they received were useful as they "would not have made it without the collaboration". The delivery of Moment's services resulted in increased customers, as "the networking services were of most value" for them. Moment also owns shares in their company.

#### 4.1.5 List of services received from Moment

From the four interviews, the collected data was gathered, structured and condensed. The services they received were identified and put into a structured table.



Table 2:	Services	received from	Moment
----------	----------	---------------	--------

Service	Company 1	Company 2	Company 3	Company 4
Access to potential customers	~	×	~	~
Access to round A funders	~	<ul> <li></li> </ul>	~	~
Pre-seed investments	~	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	~	~
Access to market	~	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	~	~
Encouragement	~	<ul> <li></li> </ul>	~	~
Increase credibility of startups	~	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	~	~
Office space	~	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	×	~
Internet Access	~	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	×	~
Access to meeting room	~	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	×	~
Access to physical resources (such as printer, scanner, boards)	~	~	×	~
Office space or co-working space	~	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	×	~
A full passion competitive startup ecosystem place	~	<ul> <li></li> </ul>	×	~
Business model innovation	~	<ul> <li></li> </ul>	×	~
Sparring Partners	~	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	×	~
Share issues	~	×	~	~
Access to financing	~	×	×	~
Mentoring	~	×	×	~
Coaching	~	×	×	~
Preparation to pitch to investors during demo-day	~	×	×	~
Access to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc.	~	×	×	~
Workshops	~	×	×	~
Creating and submitting all the company formation documents on the behalf of the participants	×	×	~	×
Transforming ideas into workable concepts	×	×	×	~

The table above shows the type of services the start-up companies have received from the case company. This information was extracted from the interviews and categorised into types of services. The results are based on each company's answers and do not mean that they were not offered more services, but that these are the services that were disclosed during the interviews. Also, the start-ups were in the middle of collaborating with Moment and therefore may not have been offered all the services yet. Furthermore, all four start-up companies answered that they have received services including access to potential customers, access to round A funders, preseed investments, access to the market, encouragement, and increased credibility of the startups. The majority of the start-up companies received services including office space, internet access, access to meeting rooms, access to physical resources, office or co-working space, a competitive start-up ecosystem place, guidance in terms of business model innovation, access to sparring partners, and guidance regarding share issues. Two of the four participating startups mentioned they received access to financing, mentoring, coaching, preparation to pitch to potential investors, access to a wide network, and workshops. Few said they received guidance regarding transforming ideas into concepts as well as creating and submitting documents on behalf of the start-up companies.



### 4.2 Data gathered from interviews with the case company

The first interview with the case company consisted of a semi-structured interview, where the case company provided information about their organisation and how they work. This interview took place before the interviews with the start-up companies. The second interview with the case company was more of a structured interview, where a few of the remaining questions from the interview guide were asked. This interview took place after interviewing the four start-up companies and was a concluding interview with the aim of getting the last answers needed to complete the thesis. In addition to the two interviews conducted with Moment, there was also sent a table in Excel where the case company could fill out the list of services they offer, which services are digital as of today, and which services can be digitalised. The findings from the interviews and table will be presented in this subchapter.

#### 4.2.1 About Moment

"Moment is a private, small investment company that mainly does three things: invest in growth companies, do a lot of project work, and have a good application process". Most of the projects that they have, are "about improving the framework conditions for growth companies". They currently "have 18 companies in the portfolio and partake in a high level of expertise in obtaining grant funds for portfolio companies or growth companies". "Moment works in a way that is very hands-on and goes very deep into each case and are able to deliver qualitatively very good and relevant services to each company's different business development needs". They are not very digital but would like to transform digitally to increase their efficiency.

Moment "is a company that accelerates other companies". Their task is "to do this in the most appropriate and effective way". They work with business development by "accelerating growth companies through a series of sprints" and coaching. Moment captures "more of the knowledge that may be silent or implicit, to improve the way services are developed and delivered". A challenge which Moment faces in their "interactions with the portfolio companies is primarily an educational challenge". "A typical accelerator program is often defined as three or six months, and has a very standardised implementation, while Moment is constantly in acceleration processes with different cases at different levels at different times". Therefore, Moment is not a typical accelerator. They see themselves as a continuous accelerator and have used both accelerator and sprint methodology. They go "very deep into each individual" start-up company, which is "a bit unique or rare in the way" they work.



### 4.2.2 Moment's selection process

The first phase consists of the potential participating start-up companies coming to pitch their ideas. Out of all these companies pitching their ideas, only a small percentage are seen as ready for collaboration with Moment. The percentage of *"the investment rate is one to two per cent of a venture capital environment"*. Before the pandemic hit, they had 74 pitches with start-up companies. In 2020, they *"had 66 companies that came in and pitched"* their ideas to Moment. *"Only one company was chosen, as the rest were not ready"* for collaboration yet. However, *"some of the companies come back to pitch again. Sometimes there are companies that are brand new, just established last week, and that is too early"*. Moment work with start-ups that are past the very early start-up phase.

#### 4.2.3 Digital transformation

Moment would like to have a digital system that can replace most of the physical meetings they have with portfolio companies and *"imagine a combination of a project management system and portfolio management system where the services and different races, tailored to each company, are laid out as a path through this system"*. By systematising their knowledge and digitalising it, making *"it accessible and put into a methodology or a path that makes you have pretty good control over what to go through"* is the goal of this process as *"the whole point is to shorten the process time"*. In this digital system, you could have *"budget tools, forecasting, where you can enter numbers, make projections, run scenarios"*, etc. Today this is done in Excel by manual operation.

The goal of the platform they envision "is a flowchart that is standardised in the sense that the vast majority of companies have to go through the same topics in the same order, but it is individualised in the sense that they will have different needs in the different categories or themes, and the progression will be different". "The worst thing for an accelerator company, is that the initiation of processes happens too late". And this occurs often. Having a system on this, and standardising the services Moment offers, may decrease this problem. From the selection process many of the start-up companies "have different businesses and different approaches to things, as they have to go through many of the same issues, but they may have to solve them at different times". By digitalising this "from the selection process, collecting these experiences and getting the right triggers and questions as early as possible", will be a great feature in the assistance of each start-up company. Furthermore, an important aspect is that "there are synergies of learning" and that these can "be transferred between companies".



Moment would like to systematise and streamline their processes and services to increase efficiency. "The goal is to streamline the processes" that they "do not want to spend so much time on", but instead spend more time on tailored sales processes to get customers, which is the most important part of increasing the growth of a company. Most start-up companies "do not have a good understanding of what the market looks like" and how to sell. By being able to provide information about "how big a market they can take, both tactically and realistically, Moment can use this as a starting point when analysing the potential value of the product or service they [the start-ups] are going to sell". Having a digital model on this would be incredibly valuable for the case company, as well as efficient in terms of time spent.

As of today, before the collaboration begins, the "start-ups fill out a form with their information through Microsoft forms. If that information went into this system and could be reused", then you could get financial calculations and business plans already made from this system, which would increase efficiency as it would no longer be done manually. In this system, you could also have KPIs (key performance indicators) and link these together with the financial information.

"Financial control and financial understanding are something growth companies are far too little able to systematise and spend their time on. Today you can build very good liquidity budgets, but it takes an incredible amount of time to follow these liquidity budgets on a day-today basis. Therefore, being able to have a good liquidity planner is very essential". Moreover, one could have "an extended portfolio management system where one can be specific at task, service, and process-level". As of today, they have "developed a database for connecting growth companies that are going to sell internationally with relevant experts, which is a resource that can be plugged into such a system".

### 4.2.4 Services offered by Moment

"The typical accelerator is cohort-based, but Moment does not take in cohorts like a regular business accelerator". Instead, they have "a rolling entry, which is more of a dynamic and case-centred way of working". They "customise each journey based on where the portfolio company is located" in terms of company growth. The services offered by Moment are listed in the table below and are sorted into categories of services.





Category	Service
	Office space
	Internet Access
Access to facilities	Access to meeting room
	Access to physical resources (such as printer, scanner, boards)
	Office space or co-working space
	Access to financing
Bank, financial and legal services	Creating and submitting all the company formation documents on the behalf of the participants
	Mentoring
	Coaching
Educational services	Boot-camp training over a fixed period
	Teambuilding
	Preparation to pitch to investors during demo-day
Funding convictor	Access to round A funders
Funding services	Pre-seed investments
	Seed funding
	Transforming ideas into workable concepts
Innovation services	Idea generation and creativity management support
	Prototyping and MVP building support
	Selecting participants and organize in cohorts
	Events
Networking	Access to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc.
Networking services	Access to industry experts
	Access to market
	Access to potential customers
	A full passion competitive startup ecosystem place
	Encouragement
Other services	HR support (personnel selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)
	Media exposure
	Brand recognition
Public relations services	Internet marketing
	Increase credibility of startups
	A public pitch event or demo day to help attract capital
Strategy services	Workshops

In terms of access to facilities, Moment offers services including office space, internet access, access to meeting rooms and physical resources, as well as office and co-working space. The case company also offers services in the bank, financial and legal category, which consists of creating and submitting documents on behalf of the portfolio companies, as well as offering access to financing. The financial part includes *"financial analysis consisting of return of investment analyses, budget analysis"*, etc. However, Moment does not offer typical legal



services. Furthermore, in terms of educational services, they deliver mentoring, coaching, team building, and boot-camp training, but regarding boot-camp training, they "*do this partly as it is called a sprint*". Moment offers funding services, which include preparation to pitch to investors, access to round A funders, pre-seed investments, and seed funding. Their innovation services consist of transforming ideas into workable concepts, idea generation and creativity management support, and prototyping and MVP (Minimum Viable Product) building support. Regarding their networking services, they offer access to a wide network, market, industry experts, and potential customers, as well as offering a competitive start-up ecosystem place, events, and selecting participants and organising them into cohorts. Additionally, Moment delivers public relations services that consist of media exposure, brand recognition, internet marketing, increased credibility of start-ups, and a public pitch event to help attract capital. Their strategy services are structured in the form of workshops. Finally, other services they deliver consist of encouragement and HR support.

### 4.2.5 Digitalisation of services

From the table that the case company filled out, they checked off which of the services they offer can be digitalised, either partially or fully. If they should not be digitalised, they would simply not check off any of the boxes (see Appendix C). The table below illustrates the list of services that can be digitalised fully, partially, or should not be digitalised at all, according to the case company.



Access to facilities       Office space       Image: Space	Category	Service	Can be digitalised fully	Can be digitalised partially	Should not be digitalised
Access to facilities       Internet Access       Image: Services		Office space			$\checkmark$
Access to facilities       Access to meeting room       Image: Comparison of the space of co-working space       Image: Comparison of the space of co-working space         Bank, financial and legal services       Access to financing       Image: Comparison of the space of co-working space       Image: Comparison of the space of co-working space         Educational services       Mentoring       Image: Comparison of the space of co-working space       Image: Comparison of co-working space       Image: Co-working space       Image: Co-wo		Internet Access			$\checkmark$
Access to physical resources (such as printer, scanner, boards)       Image: Control of the space         Bank, financial and legal services       Access to financing       Image: Control of the participants         Bank, financial and legal services       Creating and submitting all the company formation documents on the behalf of the participants       Image: Control of the participants         Educational services       Coaching       Image: Control of the participants       Image: Control of the participants         Funding services       Preparation to pitch to investors during demo-day       Image: Control of the participants       Image: Control of the participants         Funding services       Access to round A funders       Image: Control of the participants       Image: Control of the participant services         Innovation services       Idea generation and creativity management support       Image: Control of the participant services       Image: Control of the participant services         Networking services       Selecting participants and organize in cohorts       Image: Control of the participant services       Image: Control of the participant services       Image: Control of the participant services         Networking services       Access to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc.       Image: Control of the participant services       Image: Control of the participant services         Networking services       Events       Image: Control of thevelopment	Access to facilities	Access to meeting room			$\checkmark$
Office space or co-working space       Image: Constraint of the space		Access to physical resources (such as printer, scanner, boards)			$\checkmark$
Bank, financial and legal services       Access to financing       Image: Creating and submitting all the company formation documents on the behalf of the participants         Educational services       Mentoring Coaching Boot-camp training over a fixed period       Image: Creating and Boot-camp training over a fixed period       Image: Creating and Boot-camp training over a fixed period         Funding services       Preparation to pitch to investors during demo-day       Image: Creating and Students       Image: Creating and Students         Funding services       Pre-seed investments       Image: Creating and Students       Image: Creating and Students       Image: Creating and Students         Funding services       Image: Creating and Students       Image: Creating and Students       Image: Creating and Students       Image: Creating and Students         Funding services       Image: Creating and Creating and Students       Image: Creating and Students <td></td> <td>Office space or co-working space</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td><math>\checkmark</math></td>		Office space or co-working space			$\checkmark$
Bahk, intancial and legal services Creating and submitting all the company formation documents on the behalf of the participants Mentoring Coaching Boot-camp training over a fixed period Teambuilding Preparation to pitch to investors during demo-day Access to round A funders Pre-seed investments Seed funding Transforming ideas into workable concepts Innovation services Returns Selecting participants and organize in cohorts Events Access to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc. Access to industry experts Access to industry experts Access to industry experts Access to prevent selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc) Public relations Events Media exposure Public relations Intervent and terms Intervent and term	Deals francistand	Access to financing		$\checkmark$	
Educational services       Mentoring       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching         Boot-camp training over a fixed period       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching         Boot-camp training over a fixed period       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching         Funding services       Preparation to pitch to investors during demo-day       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching         Funding services       Preparation to pitch to investors during demo-day       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching         Funding services       Seed funding       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching         Innovation services       Idea generation and creativity management support       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching         Innovation services       Idea generation and creativity management support       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching       Image: Coaching         Innovation services       Idea generation and creativity management support       Image: Coaching	Bank, financial and legal services	Creating and submitting all the company formation documents on the behalf of the participants	$\checkmark$		
Educational services       Coaching       Image: Coaching Comparison of the period       Image: Comparison of the period Comparison of Comparison Comparison of the period Comparison of Comparison of Comparison of the period Comparison of Comparison Comparison of the period Comparison of Comparison Comparison Comparison Comparison of Comparison of Comparison Compa		Mentoring			$\checkmark$
Educational services Boot-camp training over a fixed period Teambuilding Preparation to pitch to investors during demo-day Pre-sect investors during demo-day Funding services Pre-sect investments Seed funding Transforming ideas into workable concepts Innovation services Idea generation and creativity management support Selecting participants and organize in cohorts Events Access to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc. Access to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc. Access to potential customers Afull passion competitive startup ecosystem place Cother services HR support (personnel selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc) Media exposure Media exposure Brand recognition Kent of dewolay to help attract capital Strategy services Workshops Workshops Kontagenets Kent of the ment or demo day to help attract capital Strategy services Kents Kent of the ment or demoday to help attract capital Kent of the ment or demoday to help attract capital Kent of the ment marketing Kent of the ment or demoday to help attract capital Kent of the ment marketing Kent of the ment or demoday to help attract capital Kent of the ment or demoday to help attract capital Kent of the ment or demoday to help attract capital Kent of the ment marketing Kent of the ment or demoday to help attract capital Kent of the ment marketing Kent of the ment or demoday to help attract capital Kent of the ment or demoday to help attract capital Kent of the ment or demode to the pattract capital Kent of the ment or demode to the pattract capital Kent of the ment or demode to the pattract capital Kent of the ment or demode to the pattract capital Kent of the ment or demode to the pattract capital Kent of the ment or demode to the pattract capital Kent of the ment or demode to the pattract capital Kent of the ment or demode to the pattract capital Kent of the ment or demode to the pattract capital Kent of the ment or demode	Educational condese	Coaching			$\checkmark$
Teambuilding       Image: Constant or pitch to investors during demo-day       Image: Constant or pitch to investors during demo-day         Funding services       Access to round A funders       Image: Constant or pitch to investors during demo-day         Pre-seed investments       Image: Constant or pitch to investors during demo-day       Image: Constant or pitch to investors during demo-day         Innovation services       Transforming ideas into workable concepts       Image: Constant or pitch	Educational services	Boot-camp training over a fixed period			$\checkmark$
Funding services       Preparation to pitch to investors during demo-day       Image: Constraint of the con		Teambuilding		$\checkmark$	
Funding services       Access to round A funders       Image: Comparison of the compariso		Preparation to pitch to investors during demo-day			$\checkmark$
Punding services       Pre-seed investments       Image: Seed funding         Innovation services       Idea generation and creativity management support       Image: Seed funding         Innovation services       Idea generation and creativity management support       Image: Seed funding         Prototyping and MVP building support       Image: Seed funding       Image: Seed funding         Prototyping and MVP building support       Image: Seed funding       Image: Seed funding         Seed funding       Image: Seed funding       Image: Seed funding       Image: Seed funding         Networking services       Seed funding funding       Image: Seed funding       Image: Seed funding       Image: Seed funding         Networking services       Seed funding funding funding       Image: Seed funding       Image: Seed funding       Image: Seed funding         Networking services       Seed funding f	Eventing and incom	Access to round A funders		$\checkmark$	
Seed fundingImage: Seed fundingImage: Seed fundingInnovation servicesTransforming ideas into workable conceptsImage: Seed funding supportImage: Seed funding supportInnovation servicesIdea generation and creativity management supportImage: Seed funding supportImage: Seed funding supportPrototyping and MVP building supportImage: Seed funding supportImage: Seed funding supportImage: Seed funding supportSelecting participants and organize in cohortsImage: Seed funding supportImage: Seed funding supportImage: Seed funding supportNetworking servicesSelecting participants and organize in cohortsImage: Seed funding supportImage: Seed funding supportNetworking servicesSelecting participants and organize in cohortsImage: Seed funding supportImage: Seed funding supportNetworking servicesSelecting participants and organize in cohortsImage: Seed funding supportImage: Seed funding supportNetworking servicesSelecting participants and organize in cohortsImage: Seed funding supportImage: See funding supportNetworking servicesAccess to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc.Image: See funding supportImage: See funding supportNetworking servicesEncouragementImage: See funding supportImage: See funding supportImage: See funding supportOther servicesEncouragement programs, etc)Image: See funding supportImage: See funding supportImage: See funding supportPublic relationsMedia exposureImage: See funding support	Funding services	Pre-seed investments		$\checkmark$	
Innovation services       Idea generation and creativity management support       Import         Innovation services       Idea generation and creativity management support       Import         Prototyping and MVP building support       Import       Import         Selecting participants and organize in cohorts       Import       Import         Events       Import       Import       Import         Access to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc.       Import       Import         Access to industry experts       Import       Import       Import         Access to potential customers       Import       Import       Import         At full passion competitive startup ecosystem place       Import       Import       Import         Other services       HR support (personnel selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Import       Import         Public relations services       Media exposure       Import       Import       Import         Reclass credibility of startups       Import       Import       Import       Import         Services       A public pitch event or demo day to help attract capital       Import       Import       Import         Strategy services       Workshops       Import       Import       <		Seed funding		$\checkmark$	
Innovation services       Idea generation and creativity management support       Image: Comparison of Comp		Transforming ideas into workable concepts			$\checkmark$
Prototyping and MVP building supportImage: Constraint of the support (personnel subction, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)Image: Support of the	Innovation services	Idea generation and creativity management support		$\checkmark$	
Selecting participants and organize in cohorts       Image: Constraint of the services         Networking services       Selecting participants and organize in cohorts         Networking services       Access to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc.         Access to industry experts       Image: Constraint of the services         Access to potential customers       Image: Constraint of the services         A full passion competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Constraint of the services         Other services       HR support (personnel selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Image: Constraint of the services         Public relations services       Brand recognition       Image: Constraint of the services       Image: Constraint of the services         Strategy services       Workshops       Image: Constraint of the services       Image: Constraint of the services		Prototyping and MVP building support		$\checkmark$	
Networking servicesEventsImage: Constraint of the services of a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc.Image: Constraint of the services of the service of the serv		Selecting participants and organize in cohorts			$\checkmark$
Networking servicesAccess to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc. Access to industry expertsImage: Constant of the services of the service of the		Events	$\checkmark$		
Networking services       Access to industry experts       Image: Comparison of the compa	Networking services	Access to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors, business, entrepreneurs, etc.	$\checkmark$		
Access to market       Image: Comparison of the services         A full passion competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Comparison of the services         Other services       Encouragement       Image: Comparison of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Image: Comparison of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Image: Comparison of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Image: Comparison of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Image: Comparison of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Image: Comparison of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Image: Comparison of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Image: Comparison of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Image: Comparison of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of the selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation, evaluation, personnel audit, evaluation,		Access to industry experts	$\checkmark$		
Access to potential customers       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         A full passion competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Other services       Encouragement       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Other services       Encouragement       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Public relations       Media exposure       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Public relations       Brand recognition       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Public relations       Brand recognition       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Public relations       Increase credibility of startups       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Strategy services       Workshops       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive ecosystem place		Access to market		$\checkmark$	
A full passion competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Other services       Encouragement       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Other services       HR support (personnel selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Public relations       Media exposure       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Public relations       Brand recognition       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Public relations       Internet marketing       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place         Strategy services       Workshops       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place       Image: Competitive startup ecosystem place		Access to potential customers		$\checkmark$	
Encouragement       Image: Constraint of the section of		A full passion competitive startup ecosystem place		$\checkmark$	
Other services       HR support (personnel selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)       Image: Constraint of the services         Public relations services       Media exposure       Image: Constraint of the services         Internet marketing       Image: Constraint of the services       Image: Constraint of the services         Increase credibility of startups       Image: Constraint of the services       Image: Constraint of the services         Strategy services       Workshops       Image: Constraint of the services       Image: Constraint of the services	Other services	Encouragement		$\checkmark$	
Media exposure       Image: Construction of the path of the pa		HR support (personnel selection, evaluation, personnel audit, preparation of development programs, etc)		$\checkmark$	
Public relations services       Brand recognition       Image: Comparison of the part of	Public relations services	Media exposure		$\checkmark$	
Public relations services       Internet marketing       Image: Comparison of the part of		Brand recognition		$\checkmark$	
Increase credibility of startups		Internet marketing	$\checkmark$		
A public pitch event or demo day to help attract capital     Image: Comparison of the comparis		Increase credibility of startups		$\checkmark$	
Strategy services Workshops		A public pitch event or demo day to help attract capital	$\checkmark$		
	Strategy services	Workshops	$\checkmark$		

#### Table 4: The services that can be digitalised fully, partially, or should not be digitalised

According to the case company, the services that can be fully digitalised include creating and submitting documents on behalf of start-ups, events, access to a wide network, access to industry experts, internet marketing, a public pitch event to attract capital, and workshops. Additionally, the services that can be digitalised partially refer to the increased use of digital tools in relation to the delivery of the services.

The figure below summarises the digitalisation of services offered by the case company. It shows that 21% of the services Moment offers can be fully digitalised, 43% can be partially digitalised, and 36% should not be digitalised at all.



Figure 2: The digitalisation of services offered by Moment



Furthermore, even though Moment is not as digital, they do use some digital tools. They "use a lot of online tools to apply for money, as well as the different portals for the funding sources". In the "interaction with the portfolio companies, it's very old fashioned" as they use digital tools "such as Word, Excel, and PowerPoint. Some of the documents are stored in Dropbox, some are only online, and some are only on email". In relation to pitching they use digital tools as they have PowerPoint templates that they use. They deliver "mentoring services which are partly digitalised", which includes the use of video meetings.

On the other hand, "there are a number of processes that cannot be digitalised, such as person or personality, hidden knowledge, everything that lies in the implicit, chemistry, dynamics, charm, enthusiasm, and language". These are human characteristics that you cannot get from digitalised services, such as an AI (artificial intelligence). Furthermore, when start-up companies are pitching their ideas to accelerator companies, it is better to do this in person as charm and other components are difficult to display during a video call. It is therefore "difficult to get through online" than it is when you pitch in person.

In terms of reusing knowledge and data from previous projects, "there is a great potential for recording and capturing much more of the knowledge" that they are generating. In other words, they have not been as good at reusing knowledge and data from previous projects. They have a "potential for delivering better value and quality to more portfolio companies" by reusing data, but it is "difficult to unlock that potential due to not learning enough from their past activities". However, they "have used some previous work as a basis for a template" for new collaborations. They "use the old contracts to make a new contract and have some inherited knowledge that is in the system in form of documents and templates, but not in an organised



way". Regarding standardisation, the services offered by the case company "are not so standardised". Some of the services are "standardised to an extent, which includes the workshop" at the beginning of the collaboration. In the workshop, they "try to get an idea of what the problems are", and how to fix these.

### 4.3 Advantages of digitalisation from Moment's viewpoint

From the data gathered from the interviews with the case company and the four start-up companies, information regarding the advantages of digitalisation from Moment's viewpoint was extracted by using the Gioia method. The data was selected, coded and categorised into a coded tree of findings. The figure shows the advantages of the digitalisation of services for the case company in terms of the data collected. The selected data was put into first-order concepts which show the information gathered through the interviews. The first-order concepts were condensed and put into second-order themes, and further categorised into aggregate dimensions which initially show the overall advantages of digitalisation from Moment's viewpoint.

# الآ UiA Handelshøyskolen



#### *Figure 3: Advantages of the digitalisation of services for Moment*





#### 4.3.1 Systematisation

During the interviews with Moment, it was revealed that they would like to digitalise their business in terms of implementing a digital system that is composed of both a project management system and a portfolio management system. They would also like to have a learning platform where they could get an overview of what the start-ups need to learn and what they already have been taught in terms of education. Implementing these systems gives a better overview of the whole process of delivering services to the portfolio companies in addition to streamlining the services. Moreover, these concepts lead to increased systematisation as they may help in terms of delivering services to start-up companies and can provide an understandable and straightforward business model.

#### 4.3.2 Eco-friendly operations

By digitalising processes and services, there will be less use of paper as there will be an increase in the use of digital tools. Also, having digital meetings, as opposed to physical meetings, reduces emissions in terms of less travelling. The implementation of digital platforms is beneficial in relation to sustainability as it promotes reuse, which is advantageous as it encourages eco-friendly operations.

#### **4.3.3 Increased profit**

The digitalisation of services can make financial analyses easier as this would be done through a digital system instead of doing this manually. A digital system could also filter out the best companies to collaborate with, and therefore also increase growth in terms of portfolio size. These benefits of digitalised processes can be categorised into a better selection process and an increase in capacity, which in turn leads to increased profit.

#### 4.3.4 Increased success rate for the companies in the portfolio

In terms of pitching and application processes, there could be a standardised system based on previous success data, thereby reusing documents, templates, and systems. This process can be beneficial as there would be better applications and pitches for the participating start-up companies. Another benefit of digitalising the case company's services correlates to having a learning platform, as previously mentioned, that would make the educational process more comprehensive. Furthermore, there would be a better response rate for urgent matters in terms of implementing a digital system with notifications for alarms and triggers relating to each start-up companies, which in turn may increase the success rate for Moment, which is another advantage.



#### 4.3.5 Increased efficiency

Finally, the digitalisation of processes and services can lead to the reusing of documents, templates, and systems, and saves time on education by using a digital learning platform. Other benefits include scalability, streamlining, and saving time by having digital meetings instead of physical meetings, as discussed earlier. These benefits lead to saving time and money, as well as increased quality and overall results of the services. In the end, this results in increased efficiency as an advantage and is an important aspect of any business.

### 5. Discussion

The previous chapter displayed the findings from the interviews conducted with the case company and the four start-up companies. The findings provide a basis for answering the research questions. In this chapter, the findings will be discussed further in relation to the research questions as well as actor network theory as a theoretical lens.

### 5.1 Moment as a business accelerator

Through the six interviews with the four start-up companies and the case company, the term 'accelerator' was hardly used as something they would describe the company Moment. The term 'collaboration' was a term more appropriate for describing the relationship between the start-up companies and the case company. Furthermore, the start-up companies would not refer to the services received by Moment as 'a program' when they rather saw the relationship as a collaboration, cooperation, or even a colleague relationship. The interview questions were originally formulated differently as the questions were based on asking about the services offered in an 'accelerator program'. This was changed during the interview process, as no one referred to the services as 'a program', but rather just 'services', 'collaboration', 'guidance', 'counselling', or 'advice'. The interview questions were therefore rewritten to fit the answers from the respondents.

In terms of the duration of the collaboration between the start-up companies and Moment, it is more of a continuous relationship than a program with a set end date. A typical accelerator program usually lasts for three to six months, whereas Moment's collaborations may last for years. Moreover, the selection process of the case company is competitive as it is highly



selective, just like a typical accelerator program, as they select approximately two per cent of their applicants. They select start-up companies that are not in the very early start-up stage and can be viewed as a second-stage accelerator since they focus on more mature start-ups (BDC, n.d.), thereby being categorised as a vertical type of acceleration program. In relation to values, the collaboration consists of hands-on mentoring, which corresponds to the characteristics of a venture development organisation (VDO). However, besides sharing the selection process and the values as characteristics, Moment does not fit into the category of a VDO. Moment's strategic focus and program package mainly consist of the same aspects as a typical accelerator program, but they do not offer alumni services. In terms of their program package and funding structure, they have the same characteristics as innovation accelerators. Nevertheless, although Moment shares some similarities with different types of accelerators and start-up assistance organisations, they fit best in the category of hybrid accelerators. They offer coaching and mentoring services just like a typical accelerator, but their education consists of various accelerator and incubator practices and the duration is longer than a typical accelerator. Additionally, the case company has the same type of business model, venture location, and funding sources just like a hybrid accelerator. In terms of accelerator archetypes, the case company does not fit just into one of the archetypes, but rather an accelerator with hybrid elements.

### **5.2 Digitalisation of services**

In the previous chapter, the services that Moment offers were mapped out, presented, and categorised by type of services. Since the processes and services offered by the case company are not delivered in a particular order, but rather in terms of each company's individual needs, a process map would not be relevant to use in order to map out their services and were instead mapped out by listing them in a table (see Table 3). Furthermore, from the data collected from the start-ups and the case company, the services both received from the start-ups and offered by Moment correlate in terms of similarities as they have listed almost the same type of services. However, when collecting information through a table as well as the conducted interviews, the case company was able to provide a greater list of services. Due to time constraints, the start-up companies were not given a table of services to fill out, limiting the data collection regarding listing the services that are delivered by the case company. The start-ups still managed to provide an adequate amount of data, being able to map out more than half of the services that Moment provided. Also, the start-ups are still collaborating with Moment, therefore making



them unable to list all of the services that are offered as they have not been through all of them yet.

In terms of digitalisation of services, the data collected showed that the interviewees, both the start-ups and the case company, would not want all of the services fully digitalised as this would lose the human interaction that is still sought. Nevertheless, they would want to have digital systems and platforms to increase efficiency and save time. The case company want to digitalise their services and envision a platform or digital system that will replace many of its manual operations. They want to digitally transform their processes, including the process of filling out information from the start-up companies at the start of the collaboration. By digitally transforming this process, the information that is entered could be put into a platform or system where it could be generated to a business plan for the portfolio companies, as well as getting financial calculations, linking together KPIs (key performance indicators) and financial information. By implementing change management in the process of digitalisation, the case company's processes and services can be digitally transformed from their current analogue state.

Moment has stated that they use digital tools in relation to most of the services they offer. This means that their processes and services are more digitised rather than digitalised. The case company want to streamline and systematise their processes and services, increasing the amount of digitalisation. Furthermore, the majority of the start-ups used typical digital tools which include the applications in the Microsoft Office Suite. Otherwise, the case company could not recommend using any other digital tools, according to the four start-up companies. In terms of the results of the services received from Moment, the participants were satisfied with the collaboration, and the majority found the financial services the most valuable. However, they would like some digital platforms or systems to save time and thereby increase efficiency instead of having physical meetings. Therefore, the case company could implement digital tools to the services that the majority wanted to be kept physical, making the services more digitised. Also, they could implement these digital platforms or systems in terms of the services that can be fully digitalised, which contributes to digitally transforming their business.

Concerning the standardisation of services, two of the start-ups did not regard the services as standardised, while the other two said that the workshop in the beginning, was the only standardised part of the services received. From this information, it is clear that not all start-up companies go through the same type of services as only two of the start-ups went through a standardised workshop at the start of the collaboration with Moment. Standardised services are



much easier to digitalise, which would make the workshop one of the easiest processes to digitalise. However, as only two of the four interviewed start-ups received the workshop as a service, it is assumed that not all start-ups need this workshop as it is based on where the company is located in terms of growth.

### 5.3 Advantages of digitalisation from Moment's viewpoint

The advantages of digitalisation are several, and the five overall advantages of digitalisation in terms of Moment's delivery of services were illustrated in the previous chapter. These advantages are systematisation, eco-friendly operations, increased profit, increased success rate, and increased efficiency. Systematisation is the process of putting together several systems that operate together to help the organisation scale more effectively (Brooks, 2022). Systematisation is therefore important in terms of scalability, structure, and organisation within the company. Moreover, eco-friendly operations consist of implementing actions that are sustainable and environmentally friendly. In today's day and age, businesses will demand a certain level of eco-friendly operations in order to conduct their day-to-day business. Ecofriendly operations lead to good business ethics. Business ethics attract customers, resulting in increased sales and profit and encouraging employees to stay in the company, resulting in increased productivity. Business ethics also attract investors (Ezenwakwelu et al., 2020). Furthermore, the most important of the advantages presented is the increase in efficiency as this leads to higher profits and growth. The quantity of work a firm or organization can generate concerning the amount of time, money, and resources required, is referred to as business efficiency and relates to how well a company can turn resources like materials, labour, and capital into revenue-generating products and services (Indeed, 2021).

Through digital innovation or digital entrepreneurship, analogue processes may be digitalised to form e-services. In relation to the degree of digital entrepreneurship, which describes the degree to which businesses operate in the digital world (Hull et al., 2007; Liao et al., 2013), the case company could go from mild to moderate digital entrepreneurship by digitalising the majority of their services. If they were to fully digitalise all the processes and services, they could achieve extreme digital entrepreneurship where everything would be in digital form. However, the majority of participating interviewees did not wish for this as they would want partial digitalisation to keep the human interactions. The existence or growth of a digital ecosystem is required for digital entrepreneurship (Kraus et al., 2018).



#### 5.3.1 Disadvantages of digitalisation

However, some disadvantages may appear when digitalising the services and are worth mentioning. Firstly, a weakness of digitalisation is regarding data security. Digitalisation means that the information and knowledge are gathered in one system or platform, which may come into the wrong hands if left unprotected. Hence, there is a risk of intellectual property being spread and going astray, which can lead to privacy concerns from the portfolio companies. To solve this issue, the case company can implement digital systems such as information protection systems or internal control systems. Secondly, another disadvantage consists of work overload. Digitalisation may lead to having access to all of the processes digitally, which means that one can work from any location. This may lead to bringing your workload home, thereby personally working too much and risking burnout and not making time to disconnect from work. Furthermore, the majority of the participating interviewees mentioned they would like to keep human interactions, chemistry, etc., which they get from the physical meetings. The digitalisation of services would lead to physical meetings being replaced with digital meetings, or even replacing human labour with an AI (artificial intelligence), depending on the degree of digitalisation. However, this may lead to losing the context when the human component is removed. For example, in terms of pitching, entrepreneurs can be very charming in real life and present well but cannot get through the same message when pitching online as the human connection and chemistry are lost through a computer screen.

### 5.4 Digitalisation from an Actor Network Theory point of view

As previously stated in the Literature Review, the actor network theory (ANT) claims that technology and society are essentially interconnected (Waldherr et al., 2019). To understand the network of relationships between individuals and organisations, ANT needs to be applied in order to illustrate the connections and benefits these convey.

#### 5.4.1 ANT's concept of translation

In terms of actors, each start-up company collaborating with the case company can be seen as actors forming a network in relation to the companies in Moment's portfolio. The case company, which consists of its employees and resources, make up actors to form their own network within the accelerator company. In an organisation, actors consist of people, devices, texts, digital tools, and inter-organisational relations, which are important materials in networks (Law, 1994, p. 23). These networks, which consist of both human and non-human actors, can



be combined to form a bigger network where services and resources are interconnected. The connection between these actors or entities in the networks corresponds to the concept of translation (Callon, 1991), and is composed of problematisation, interessement, enrolment, and mobilisation (Callon, 1986; Chowdhury, 2017; Sage et al., 2020).

### 5.4.1.1 Problematisation

Problematisation introduces a problem or an opportunity by the main actor (Chowdhury, 2017). The main actor in this circumstance is the accelerator company Moment, which introduces an opportunity for their portfolio companies to digitalise all of their processes and services in order to increase efficiency. In this problematisation phase, the main actor, Moment, has to present this opportunity to the start-up companies they collaborate with. However, not all of these companies would like the exact implementation of digitalisation and may have other interests regarding this. In turn, they may propose other solutions (Chowdhury, 2017), such as digitalising a number of services instead of all of them or implementing certain types of software or systems instead of processes that are currently by manual operation. As long as the interests of both the case company and start-up companies are met, the opportunity may be implemented with certain adjustments.

#### 5.4.1.2 Interessement

The interessement phase consists of getting the other actors interested in the solutions presented by the main actor and supports the problematisation phase (Rodon et al., 2008). The goal of this phase is to break up any potential competing coalitions and build a system of alliances (Callon, 1986; Mähring et al., 2004; Rodon et al., 2008; Chowdhury, 2017). The identifying actors, which are the portfolio companies and Moment, have common interests that consist of increasing the efficiency and saving time spent on processes and services, which in turn leads to cooperation that can benefit all actors. Furthermore, in this phase, it is common that the startup companies can be sceptical and lack trust in terms of the proposed opportunity (Callon, 1986; Chowdhury, 2017). The main actor must present the advantages of digitalising the processes and services, both for the case company and the start-ups. As previously mentioned, there were identified five main advantages of digitalisation for the case company, which include systematisation, eco-friendly operations, increased profit, increased success rate, and increased efficiency. These advantages, especially the increase in success rate, are applicable not only for the case company but also for the portfolio companies. As the advantages apply to the case company, it affects the start-ups too. An increased success rate for the portfolio companies



means an increased success rate for the case company, and vice versa. Due to the nature of the collaboration, the effect on Moment also affects the start-up companies.

### 5.4.1.3 Enrolment

Enrolment consists of achieving a desired outcome, where the actors have to negotiate the terms of the implementation of the problem or opportunity (Callon, 1986; Chowdhury, 2017). In this phase, the plan of implementation and each actor's role in the proposed cooperation is presented. The details of the implementation of digitally transforming the processes and services will emerge here, as it is important to state how this will affect each human and nonhuman actor. By applying the concept of change management, digitalisation can take place by changing the direction and structure of the organisation (Moran & Brightman, 2001) to get the anticipated business outcome (Creasy, 2018). In order to change the processes and services from analogue to digital, information and communication technology (ICT) is important in the operation of transporting and transforming the information. ICT would process, store, and transfer information through an assortment of technologies and applications (Cohen et al., 2002). Another way to digitally transform the services would be through business process management (BPM) that aligns the processes with the needs and objectives of the customers (Lee & Dale, 1998), which in this case, are the portfolio companies. BPM is a way to improve the processes (Zairi, 1997), which involves increasing the efficiency of services through digitalisation. It helps firms boost profitability in the short run, by reducing waste and costs, and helps firms be receptive to business changes in the long run (Turban & Volonino, 2012, p. 394).

#### 5.4.1.4 Mobilisation

The mobilisation phase is concerned with identifying appropriate representatives for the actor network. In this phase, the actor network is stabilised, with the network becoming a single actor with irreversible and long-lasting relationships (Callon, 1986; Chowdhury, 2017). In the implementation of digitalisation, the case company could enable co-creation by getting an external actor to develop a digital system or platform. Co-creation involves external parties being brought in as a part of the ideation and development process (Livescault, n.d.). Through ANT, the digitalisation of services leads to the co-creation of services, meaning that customers may customise the services in relation to their needs or wants (Chowdhury, 2017). Moreover, the case company could cooperate with the portfolio companies which makes it possible to use the information and resources of each company and put it into a digital system. This creates a



digital ecosystem, which connects systems and processes consisting of technology, people, strategy, and channels (Hardin, 2018).

In sum, ANT presents the relationship enabling the digitalisation of services (Chowdhury, 2017). By discussing the findings from the collected data from an Actor Network Theory perspective, all the phases of translation were completed.

### 6. Conclusion

### **6.1 Concluding remarks**

This thesis illuminated which processes and services that are offered in the accelerator company Moment, investigated which these processes and services that can be digitalised and presented the advantages of digitalisation from the case company's viewpoint. The research completed offered a foundation for responding to the problem statements:

**RQ1** – Which processes and related services offered by an accelerator company can be digitalised?

RQ2 – What are the advantages of digitalisation from an accelerator company's point of view?

The study gathered primary data through a set of interviews, initially contributing to existing literature regarding the digitalisation of business accelerators by conducting an exploratory case study.

The findings displayed that Moment is not seen as an accelerator program provider by the startup companies, as they rather refer to the relationship between them as a collaboration. In terms of the characteristics of business accelerators, Moment can be seen as a hybrid accelerator. Furthermore, all the processes and services that Moment offers can be digitally transformed or fully digitalised. However, this is not ideal for neither the case company nor the start-up companies in their portfolio as they would want to keep physical human interaction. A solution to this may be to digitalise a majority of their services or digitising the processes and services by implementing digital tools in relation to the delivery of the services. These digital tools may include programs and online resources.



According to the case company, the services that could be fully digitalised include services within bank and financial services, some networking services, public relations services, and strategy services. Furthermore, there were twice as many of the services that they offer that can be digitalised partially, which consists of the delivery of services with the use of digital tools. These include services within bank, financial, and legal services, some educational services, funding services, innovation services, networking services, public relations services, and other services, which includes encouragement and HR support. Lastly, the services that should not be digitalised are related to the services Moment offers that are physical, such as access to facilities, and those that should not be digital due to human interaction and chemistry being an important factor that you cannot get through the digital counterpart.

Moreover, the findings presented the advantages of digitalisation from the case company's viewpoint, which included: streamlining, better overview, reuse, digital platforms, better selection process, increase in capacity, better applications and pitches for participating start-up companies, more comprehensive educational process, better response-rate for urgent matters, saving time and money, and lastly, increased quality of services. These advantages were condensed into five main advantages which were: systematisation, eco-friendly operations, increased profit, increased success rate, and increased efficiency.

The discussion presented the concept of translation from Actor Network Theory as a process to implement the digitalisation of the case company's services. The portfolio companies are interpreted as actors of a network, while the employees and resources of Moment form another network, which in turn makes a bigger network or ecosystem of networks. Additionally, translation consists of four stages. Problematisation introduced the opportunity of digitalising the services offered, which is presented to the start-up companies. Interessement consists of getting the start-ups interested in the presented opportunity of digitalisation, thereby being shown the advantages of the digitalisation of services, for both the case company and the portfolio companies. Enrolment contains the plan of implementation of the digitalisation by stating the effect this has on each human and non-human actor in the network, which can take place through the application of change management or business process management. Finally, the mobilisation stage identifies appropriate representatives of the execution of digitalisation, which can be done through co-creation where an external actor would develop the desired digital system or platform.



### **6.2 Implications**

The aims of this master's thesis were to map out the processes and services offered by an accelerator company and investigate which of these processes and services can be digitalised, as well as examine the advantages of the digitalisation from the accelerator company's viewpoint.

The relevance of this study relates to the increased degree of digitalisation caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The majority of businesses experienced the need to adapt to an increased use of digital tools, and the problem statements were formulated on this basis. Another result of the pandemic was the increased interest in innovation, which also contributed to the foundation of the research aims as it sparked interest in the investigation of the fairly new concept of business accelerators.

The results from the study presented the type of services that can be digitalised, either partially or fully, as well as the advantages of digitalisation for the accelerator company. The research contributes to the existing literature on business accelerators and other start-up assistance organisations, as well as the effect of digitalisation and the development of digital transformation strategy. The results of the research can be a guide to future research regarding the same topic as stated in the limitations below.

### 6.3 Limitations and further research

This study has some limitations. The main limitation is the time constraint, as the research was conducted over a short period of time due to the master's thesis being written during the time frame of one semester. Due to lack of time, it was not doable to interview all the start-up companies in the case company's portfolio, but rather only four of the 18 portfolio companies. To increase the reliability, it would be more advantageous to conduct interviews with all the portfolio companies, increasing the number of participants. Therefore, in terms of further research, one may be able to provide more data by conducting a study over a longer period of time, having the time and resources for this, and being able to interview an increased number of participants.

Another limitation was that this is a single case study. By having multiple case studies as a basis for the research, the results would be more accurate in terms of investigating which processes and services that can be digitalised. This would again require an investigation over an extended



time frame. In future research, the research can be completed by doing a multiple case study or multiple-case design. Furthermore, an additional limitation consists of only interviewing startup companies currently in collaboration with the case company. Former start-ups that have been in collaboration with them could also be investigated to get a more detailed understanding of all the services the case company delivers. Moreover, the method of collecting data was through a series of interviews. In future research, one could conduct interviews as well as having anonymous questionnaires online for the start-up companies. By gathering data through questionnaires, the data could contain less bias and more details as participants are aware their answers will remain unidentified.

Finally, there was a limitation regarding the data collection as the case company was given a table to fill out the services they offer. Due to the time limitation, the start-up companies were not given such a table to fill out, which meant that the start-ups could have received more services than what they stated during the interviews, however not mentioned. For further research, the start-up companies could have filled out the same table with the list of services that the case company filled out to make the data gatherings more accurate.



### References

Altun, Y. B. (2021). *Pandemic Fuels Global Growth of Entrepreneurship And Startup Frenzy*. Forbes. Retrieved from <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbestechcouncil/2021/04/09/pandemic-fuels-global-growth-of-entrepreneurship-and-startup-frenzy/?sh=22d1d6e77308</u>

Bank, N. & Kanda, W. (2016). *Tenant recruitment and support processes in sustainability-profiled business incubators*. Ind. High. Educ., 30, 267–277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0950422216659567</u>

Battistella, C., De Toni, A. F., & Pessot, E. (2017). *Open accelerators for start-ups success: a case study*. European Journal of Innovation Management, (20)1, 80-111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EJIM-10-2015-0113</u>

BDC. (n.d.). *Business accelerator*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.bdc.ca/en/articles-tools/entrepreneur-toolkit/templates-business-guides/glossary/business-accelerator</u>

Bergmann, T. & Rothausen, T. (2020). *Supporting start-ups in the process industries with accelerator programs: Types, design elements and success measurement.* Journal of Business Chemistry. Vol.17, Iss.3, October 2020 81 | 123 URN: urn:nbn:de:hbz:6-60119500068 DOI: 10.17879/60119499532

Bluestein, A. & Barrett, A. (2010). *How Incubators Speed the Start-up Process: Initiatives such as Y Combinator in San Francisco and TechStars in Boulder, Colorado, provide more than just funding, INC.* Retrieved from http://www.inc.com/magazine/20100701/more-startup-incubators.ht

Bone, J., Allen, O., & Haley, C. (2017). *Business Incubators and Accelerators: The National Picture*. BEIS Research Paper No. 7.

Bone, J., Gonzalez-Uribe, J., Haley, C., & Lahr, H. (2019). *The impact of business accelerators and incubators in the UK*. Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy. BEIS Research Paper Number 2019/009.

Brooks, A. (2022). *The Ultimate Guide to Systemising Your Business*. Venture Harbour. Retrieved from https://www.ventureharbour.com/business-systemisation-guide/

Bryman, A. & Bell, E. (2015). *Business Research Methods*. Oxford University Press, UK: Glasgow. Fourth edition.

Butz, H. & Mrozewski, M. J. (2021). *The Selection Process and Criteria of Impact Accelerators. An Exploratory Study.* Sustainability 2021, 13, 6617. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13126617</u>

Callon, M. (1986). *Some elements of a sociology of translation: Domestication of the scallops and the fishermen of St Brieuc Bay.* In J. Law (Ed.), Power, action and belief: A new sociology of knowledge? (pp. 196–223). London: Routledge.



Callon, M. (1991). *Techno-economic networks and irreversibility*. In L. Law (Ed.), A sociology of monsters (pp. 132–161). London, UK: Routledge.

Carvalho, A. C., Grilo, A., Pina, J. P. & Zutshi, A. (2017). *How Business Startup Accelerators Envision their Future*. IEOM Society International. Proceedings of the International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management Rabat, Morocco, April 11-13, 2017.

Cassia, F. (2017). Digital landscapes. *How digitalization impacts business*. Sinergie, Italian journal of management. Vol. 35, N. 103, 2017.

Chowdhury, S. (2017). *Co-creation of e-services enabled by the digitalization of physical products*. Journal of Information Systems and Technology Management - JISTEM USP, Brazil Vol. 14, No. 2, May/Aug., 2017 pp. 219-237.

Christiansen, J. D. (2009). *Copying Y Combinator: A framework for developing Seed Accelerator Programmes*. MBA Dissertation / Individual Project, Judge Business School & Jesus College, Cambridge University of Cambridge.

Clarysse, B., Wright, M. & Van Hove, J. (2015). *A Look Inside Accelerators – Building Businesses*. Nesta.

Cohen, G., Salomon, I., & Nijkamp, P. (2002). *Information-communications technologies (ICT) and transport: does knowledge underpin policy*? Telecommunications Policy 26 (2002) 31–52.

Cohen, S. L (2013). *What Do Accelerators Do? Insights from Incubators and Angels*. Innovations: Technology, Governance, Globalization, 8(3–4), 19–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/INOV\_a\_00184</u>

Cohen, S., & Hochberg, Y. V. (2014). *Accelerating Startups: The Seed Accelerator Phenomenon*. SSRN Electronic Journal, 1 – 16. http://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2418000

Creasy, T. (2018). *An Introduction Guide to Change Management*. Retrieved April 2, 2018, from <u>www.prosci.com</u>

Del Sarto, N., Di Minin, A. & Marullo, C. (2018). *Emerging actors within the innovation landscape: Systematic review on accelerators*. ResearchGate. Retrieved from <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/337544950\_Emerging\_actors\_within\_the\_innovation\_landscape\_systematic\_review\_on\_accelerators</u>

Demestichas, K. & Daskalakis, E. (2020). *Information and Communication Technology Solutions for the Circular Economy*. Sustainability 2020, 12, 7272; doi:10.3390/su12187272.



Dempwolf, S., Auer, J. & D'Ippolito, M. (2014). *Innovation Accelerators: Defining Characteristics Among Start-up Assistance Organisations*. Optimal Solutions Group, LLC College Park, MD 20740.

DeToro, I. & McCabe, T. (1997). *How to stay flexible and elude fads*. Quality Progress, Vol. 30 No. 3, pp. 55-60.

Eisenhardt, K.M. (1989). *Building theories from case study research*. The Academy of Management Review, Vol. 14 No. 4, pp. 532-550.

Elsner, J. B. (2020). Drivers of Corporate Learning through an Involvement in Business Accelerators – Insights from an Explorative Study in the Aerospace Sector. Spring Gabler. ISSN 2625-3577. ISSN 2625-3615 (electronic).

Elzinga, D.J., Horak, T., Chung-Yee, L. & Bruner, C. (1995). *Business Process Management: Survey and Methodology*. IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management, Vol. 24 No. 2, pp. 119-28.

Errida, A. & Lotfi, B. (2021). *The determinants of organizational change management success: Literature review and case study.* International Journal of Engineering Business Management Volume 13: 1–15.

Ezenwakwelu, C. A., Nwakoby, I., Egbo, O. P., Nwanmuoh, E. E., Duruzo, C. E., & Ihegboro, I. M. (2020). *Business ethics and organisational sustainability*. International Journal of Entrepreneurship, Volume 24, Issue 3, 2020. Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/343794156\_BUSINESS\_ETHICS\_AND\_ORGANISATION AL\_SUSTAINABILITY

Fedher, D., & Hochberg, Y. V. (2014). *Accelerators and the Regional Supply of Venture Capital Investment*. Social Science Research Network, 1–40. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2518668

Fowle, M., & Tyne, N. (2017). *Critical Success Factors for Business Accelerators: A Theoretical Context*. Conference: British Academy of Management 2017.

Fubah, C. N. & Moos, M. (2022). *Exploring COVID-19 Challenges and Coping Mechanisms for SMEs in the South African Entrepreneurial Ecosystem*. Sustainability 2022, 14(4), 1944; https://doi.org/10.3390/su14041944

Galli, B. J. (2018). *Change Management Models: A Comparative Analysis and Concerns*. Long Island University-Post, Greenvale, NY 11548, USA. IEEE DOI 10.1109/EMR.2018.2866860



Garcia-Ochoa, C. P., De-Pablos-Heredero, C., & Jimenez, F. B. (2021). *The effects of business accelerators in new ventures' dynamic capabilities*. Harvard Deusto Business Research. Volume X. Issue 1. Pages 127-145. https://doi.org/10.48132/hdbr.339

George, T. (2021). *Exploratory Research: Definition, Guide, & Examples*. Scribbr. Revised March 2022. Retrieved from <u>https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/exploratory-research/</u>

Graetz, F. & Smith, A. C. T. (2010). *Managing Organizational Change: A Philosophies of Change Approach*. Journal of Change Management, 10:2, 135-154, DOI: 10.1080/14697011003795602.

Guthrie, C. (2014). *The digital factory: a hands-on learning project digital entrepreneurship*. Journal of Entrepreneurship Education, Vol. 17 No. 1, pp. 115-133.

Haines, J. K. (2014). *Iterating an Innovation Model: Challenges and Opportunities in Adapting Accelerator Practices in Evolving Ecosystems*. 2014 Ethnographic Praxis in Industry Conference Proceedings, pp. 282–295, ISSN 1559-8918.

Hallen, B. L., Bingham, C. B., & Cohen, S. (2016). *Do Accelerators Accelerate? The Role of Indirect Learning in New Venture Development*. Available at SSRN: <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=2719810</u>

Hanseth, O., Aanestad, M., & Berg, M. (2004). *Actor-network theory and information systems. What's so special*? Information Technology and People, 17 (2), pp. 116–122.

Hardin, T. (2018). *Digital Platform Trends: The Digital Ecosystem*. Learn Hub. Retrieved from <u>https://learn.g2.com/trends/digital-ecosystem</u>

Hassan, S. (2020). *Six essential stages of digital transformation every business should know*. The HR Director. Retrieved from <u>https://www.thehrdirector.com/features/technology/6-essential-stages-of-digital-transformation-that-every-business-should-know-about-2/</u>

Hathaway, I. (2016). What Startup Accelerators Really Do. Harvard Business Review. Retrieved from <a href="https://hbr.org/2016/03/what-startup-accelerators-really-do">https://hbr.org/2016/03/what-startup-accelerators-really-do</a>

Heinemann, F. (2015). Corporate Accelerators: A Study on Prevalence, Sponsorship, and Strategy. Thesis: S. M. in Engineering and Management. Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Hisrich, R. D., Peters, M. P., & Shepherd, D. A. (2017). *Entrepreneurship* (10<sup>th</sup> ed.). McGraw-Hill Education International Edition.

Hoffman, D. L. & Radojevich-Kelley, N. (2012). *Analysis of Accelerator Companies: An Exploratory Case Study of Their Programs, Processes, and Early Results*. Small Business Institute Journal 2012, Vol. 8, No. 2, 54-70.



Hornstein, H. A. (2015). *The integration of project management and organizational change management is now a necessity*. ScienceDirect. International Journal of Project Management 33 (2015) 291-298.

Hull, C. E., Hung, Y. T. C., Hair, N., Perotti, V. & DeMartino, R. (2007). *Taking advantage of digital opportunities: a typology of digital entrepreneurship*. International Journal of Networking and Virtual Organizations, Vol. 4 No. 3, pp. 290-303.

IMI (1994). *Business Processes - an IMI Briefing's briefing paper*. Innovative Manufacturing Initiative, EPSRC, Swindon.

Indeed. (2021). *Business Efficiency: What It Is and How To Improve It*. Retrieved from https://www.indeed.com/career-advice/career-development/business-efficiency

Isabelle, D. A. (2013). *Key Factors Affecting a Technology Entrepreneur's Choice of Incubator or Accelerator*. Technology Innovation Management Review. February 2013: 16-22.

ITU. (2018). Accelerating Digital Transformation: Good practices for developing, driving and accelerating ICT centric innovation ecosystems in Europe. ITU Development Innovation, Regional Reports/Europe.

Jacobsen, D. I. & Thorsvik, J. (2013). *Arbeidsbok og casesamling til Hvordan organisasjoner fungerer*. (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Fagbokforlaget, Bergen.

Jamshed, S. (2014). *Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation*. J Basic Clin Pharm. September 2014-November 2014; 5(4): 87–88. doi: 10.4103/0976-0105.141942. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4194943/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4194943/</a>

Kraus, S., Palmer, C., Kailer, N., Kallinger, F. L., & Spitzer, J. (2018). *Digital entrepreneurship: A research agenda on new business models for the twenty-first century*. International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour & Research. Vol. 25 No. 2, 2019 pp. 353-375. Emerald Publishing Limited.

Kvale, S. & Brinkmann, S. (2009). *Interviews: Learning the Craft of Qualitative Research Interviewing*. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA. ISBN: 978-0-7619-2541-5.

Lange, G. & Johnston, W. (2019). *The value of business accelerators and incubators – an entrepreneur's perspective.* Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing 35/10 (2020) 1563–1572 © Emerald Publishing Limited [ISSN 0885-8624] [DOI 10.1108/JBIM-01-2019-0024]

Latour, B. (1996). On actor-network theory: A few clarifications. Soziale Welt, 47(4), 369-381.

Latour, B. (1999). On Recalling ANT. The Sociological Review 47 (1\_suppl): 15-25.



Latour, B. (2005). *Reassembling the social: An introduction to actor–network theory*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Latour, B. (2011). *Networks, societies, spheres: Reflections of an actor–network theorist*. International Journal of Communication, 5, 796–810.

Lauer, T. (2021). *Change Management: Fundamentals and Success Factors*. 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. Springer. Berlin, Germany.

Law, J. (1994). Organizing Modernity. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford, UK. ISBN: 0-631-18512-7.

Law, J. (1999). *After ANT: Complexity, Naming, and Topology*. The Sociological Review 47 (1\_suppl): 1–14.

Law, J. (2008). *Actor Network Theory and Material Semiotics*. In The New Blackwell Companion to Social Theory, edited by Bryan Turner, 141–158. Oxford: Wiley & Sons.

Law, J. & Hassard, J. (1999). *Actor Network Theory and After*. (1<sup>st</sup> ed.). Blackwell Publishers, Oxford, UK.

Le Dinh, T., Vu, M. C. & Ayayi, A. (2018). *Towards a living lab for promoting the digital entrepreneurship process*. International Journal of Entrepreneurship, Vol. 22 No. 1, pp. 1-17.

Lee, H. & Oh, S. (2006). A standards war waged by a developing country: Understanding international standard setting from the actor-network perspective. Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 15, pp. 197-195.

Lee, R. G. & Dale, B. G. (1998). *Business process management: a review and evaluation*. Business Process Management Journal ISSN: 1463-7154.

Leskinen, J. (1994). *Tiede, teknologia ja kulutustutkimus*. Kuluttajatutkimuskeskuksen julkaisuja 2, Helsinki.

Li, W., Badr, Y., & Biennier, F. (2012). *Digital ecosystems: challenges and prospects*. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Management of Emergent Digital EcoSystems (pp. 117–122). New York: ACM.

Liao, A., Hull, C.E., & Sriramachandramurthy, R. (2013). *The six facets model of technology management: a study in the digital business industry*. International Journal of Innovation and Technology Management, Vol. 10 No. 4, pp. 1350019-1-1350019-24.

Lincoln, Y. & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage Publications, Beverly Hills, CA.



Livescault, J. (n.d.). *What is Co-Creation and Why is it so Valuable*? Braineet. Retrieved from <u>https://www.braineet.com/blog/co-creation</u>

Malek, K., Maine, E. & McCarthy, I. P. (2014). *A typology of clean technology commercialisation accelerators*. ScienceDirect. 0923-4748/\$ – see front matter. Crown Copyright 2013 Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jengtecman.2013.10.006</u>

Mergel, I., Edelmann, N., & Haug, N. (2016). *Defining digital transformation: Results from expert interviews*. ScienceDirect. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2019.06.002</u>

Mian, S., Lamine, W., & Fayolle, A. (2016). *Technology Business Incubation: An overview of the state of knowledge*. Technovation. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166497216000183?via%3Dihub

Miller, P. & Bound, K. (2011). *The Startup Factories: The rise of accelerator programmes to support new technology ventures*. NESTA, discussion paper.

Moment. (n.d.). Moment. Retrieved from http://moment.as/

Moment. (2019). Moment Growth Lab [Informative Project Plan].

Moment. (2020). Aktørbilde Moment Regionen [PowerPoint slides].

Moran, J. W. & Brightman, B. K. (2001). *Leading organizational change*. Career Development International, 6(2), pp. 111–118.

Murdoch, J. (1998). The spaces of actor-network theory. Geoforum 29 (4), 357-374.

Mähring, M., Holmström, J., Keil, M., & Montealegre, R. (2004). *Trojan actor-networks and swift translation: Bringing actor-network theory to IT project escalation studies*. Information Technology and People, (17), pp. 210-238.

Othman, S. S. (2019). *Actor-Network Theory as a Supplement to Study News*. Sosio Humanika 12 (1): 49–68.

Outila, M. & Kiuru, H. (2021). "Picturephone in My Home": Actor-Network Theory and Foucauldian Discourse Analysis on Northern Finnish Older Adults Starting to Use a Video Conferencing Service. Journal of Technology in Human Services, 39:2, 163-192, DOI: 10.1080/15228835.2020.1869670

Pauwels, C., Clarysse, B., Wright, M., & Van Hove, J. (2016). *Understanding a new generation incubation model: The accelerator*. Technovation, 50–51, 13-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2015.09.003



Regmi, K., Ahmed, S. A., & Quinn, M. (2015). *Data Driven Analysis of Startup Accelerators*. Universal Journal of Industrial and Business Management 3(2): 54-57, 2015. http://www.hrpub.org DOI: 10.13189/ujibm.2015.03020

Richter, N., Jackson, P., & Schildhauer, T. (2017). *Outsourcing creativity: An abductive study of open innovation using corporate accelerators*. Creat Innov Manag. 2018;27:69–78.

Reijers, H. A. (2021). *Business Process Management: The evolution of a discipline*. ScienceDirect. Computers in Industry 126 (2021) 103404.

Rodon, J., Pastor, J. A., Sesé, F., & Christiaanse, E. (2008). Unravelling the dynamics of IOIS implementation: an actor-network study of IOIS in the seaport of Barcelona. Journal of Information Technology, (23), pp. 97-108.

Ryfe, D. (2022). Actor-Network Theory and Digital Journalism. Digital Journalism, 10:2, 267-283, DOI: 10.1080/21670811.2021.1945937

Sage, D., Vitry, C., & Daintry, A. (2020). *Exploring the Organizational Proliferation of New Technologies: An Affective Actor-Network Theory*. Organization Studies 2020, Vol. 41(3) 345–363

Sahut, J. M., Iandoli, L., & Teulon, F. (2019). *The age of digital entrepreneurship*. Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-019-00260-8</u>

Satalkina, L. & Steiner, G. (2020). *Digital Entrepreneurship and its Role in Innovation Systems: A Systematic Literature Review as a Basis for Future Research Avenues for Sustainable Transitions*. Sustainability 2020, 12, 2764; doi:10.3390/su12072764

Sekaran, U. & Bougie, R. (2016). *Research Methods for Business – A Skill-Building Approach*. (7<sup>th</sup> ed.). John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, West Sussex, United Kingdom.

Singh, A. S. (2014). *Conducting case study research in non-profit organisations*. Emerald Insight. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/QMR-04-2013-0024/full/html">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/QMR-04-2013-0024/full/html</a>

Smilor, R. & Gill, M. (1986). *The New Business Incubator: Linking Talent, Technology, Capital and Know-how*. Lexington Books, Lexington, MA, p. 224.

Smith, S. W., & Hannigan, T. J. (2015). *Swinging for the fences: How do top accelerators impact the trajectories of new ventures*. DRUID15. Rome. Retrieved from <u>https://vdocuments.net/swinging-for-the-fences-how-do-top-accelerators-impact-swinging-for-the-fences.html?page=1</u>



Smith, S. W., Hannigan, T. J., & Gasiorowski, L. (2017). *Peering Inside: What Is the Impact of Cohorts, Peers, and Founding Teams on Entrepreneurial Outcomes*? Academy of Management Proceeding, 1–35.

Srinivasan, A. & Venkatraman, N. (2018). *Entrepreneurship digital platforms: a network centric view*. Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal, Vol. 12 No. 3, pp. 54-71.

Stalph, F. (2019). *Hybrids, Materiality, and Black Boxes: Concepts of Actor-Network Theory in Data Journalism Research*. Sociology Compass 13 (11): 1–13.

Sussan, F. & Acs, Z. J. (2017). *The digital entrepreneurial ecosystem*. Small business economics, 49(1), pp. 55-73. <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11187-017-9867-5</u>

Szczukiewicz, K. & Makowiec, M. (2021). *Characteristics and Specificities of Local Innovation Accelerators: A Case of Poland*. Sustainability 2021, 13, 1689. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13041689</u>.

TechStars Website. (2010). Retrieved from http:///www.techstars.org

Turban, E. & Volonino, L. (2012). *Information Technology for Management*. (8<sup>th</sup> ed.). International Student Version. John Wiley & Sons. ISBN: 978-1-118-09225-5.

UNESCO. (n.d.). *Information and Communication Technologies (ICT)*. Available online: http://uis.unesco.org/en/glossary-term/information-and-communication-technologies-ict

UNESCO. (2009). *Guide to measuring information and communication technologies (ICT) in education.* UNESCO Institute for Statistics, Technical paper no. 2. Retrieved from <u>http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/guide-to-measuring-information-and-</u> <u>communication-technologies-ict-in-education-en\_0.pdf</u>

U.S. Government Publishing Office. (2017). *Empowering Small Businesses: The Accelerator Model*. House Hearing, 115 Congress. Small Business Committee Document Number 115-018.

Van der Aalst, W. M. P. (2004). *Business process management: a personal view*. Business Process Management Journal, Vol. 10 No. 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/bpmj.2004.15710baa.001</u>

Van der Aalst, W. M. P., La Rosa, M., & Santoro, F. M. (2016). *Business Process Management: Don't Forget to Improve the Process*! Bus Inf Syst Eng 58(1):1–6 (2016) DOI 10.1007/s12599-015-0409-x

Van der Aalst, W.M.P., ter Hofstede, A.H.M. & Weske, M. (Eds) (2003). "*Business process management: a survey*". International Conference on Business Process Management (BPM 2003), Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 2678, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 1–12.



Verhoef, P. C., Broekhuizen, T., Bart, Y., Bhattacharya, A., Dong, J. Q., Fabian, N., & Haenlein, M. (2019). *Digital transformation: A multidisciplinary reflection and research agenda*. Elsevier, ScienceDirect. Journal of Business Research 122 (2021) 889-901.

Waldherr, A., Geise, S., & Katzenbach, C. (2019). *Because Technology Matters: Theorizing Interdependencies in Computational Communication Science with Actor–Network Theory*. International Journal of Communication 13(2019), 3955–3975.

Wang, J. J. & Yau, S. (2018). *Case studies on transport infrastructure projects in belt and road initiative: An actor network theory perspective*. Journal of Transport Geography 71 (2018) 213-223.

WeeTech Solution. (n.d.). *Strengths and Weaknesses of Quantitative and Qualitative Research*. WeeTech Info Solution Private Limited. Retrieved from

https://www.weetechsolution.com/blog/strengths-and-weaknesses-of-quantitative-and-qualitativeresearch

Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*. (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA. ISBN 978-1-4129-6099-1

Yong, T. X., Miskon, S., & Abdullah, N. S. (2021). *Barriers in Implementing E-commerce System: A Case Study of Computer Retail Outlet*. 7th International Conference on Research and Innovation in Information Systems (ICRIIS), 2021, pp. 1-5, doi: 10.1109/ICRIIS53035.2021.9617073.

Zairi, M. (1997). "Business process management: a boundaryless approach to modern competitiveness". Business Process Management, Vol. 3 No. 1, pp. 64-80.


### Appendix

### Appendix A – Formulating the interview guide



Source: Bryman & Bell, 2015



### Appendix B – The interview guide

### Start-up companies

### Introduction

Hello and thank you for being willing to be a part of our research project. The interview will take up to an hour and we would like to remind you that it is completely voluntary to participate. As the pandemic had a major impact on individuals and businesses, many everyday activities had to be limited and new digital alternatives had to be used to reduce physical meetings/attendance. Therefore, many companies were affected by this. The research question of our master's thesis is thus "What services and related processes can be digitalized in an accelerator company?"

If you agree, we will audio record the interview using a dictaphone which is not connected to the internet. The interview will thereby be transferred to the University of Agder's OneDrive server. After it has been analysed, transcribed, and transferred to written form in the assignment, the audio file will be deleted. Furthermore, we will only use anonymised data in our thesis.

#### Interview questions

- 1. What made you seek collaboration with Moment?
- 2. What did you expect out of the collaboration?
- 3. What kind of guidance and advice did you get through the collaboration?
- 4. What kind of services were you offered?
- 5. What was Moment's input in the delivery of those services?
- 6. What was your input and how active were you in the delivery of those services?
- 7. What was the result of the services you received?
- 8. How satisfied are you with the delivery of these services?
- 9. Which services were the most valuable for your company?
- 10. How standardized were the services?
- 11. Did the collaboration with Moment meet your expectations?
- 12. How much of the growth in your company do you think is due to Moment's services as opposed to natural growth?
- 13. Is the competitive advantage of your company related to unique knowledge developed internally? How?



- 14. How do you protect unique knowledge within your company?
- 15. Did you use your own digital tools in relation to your assigned tasks?
- 16. Did the accelerator company recommend or provide you with any digital tools in relation to your assigned tasks?
- 17. Is there something you think should be changed about the services you received?
- 18. Which parts of the services could be digitalized?
- 19. Which parts should not be digitalized?
- 20. Are there any services that should not be digitalized to protect the knowledge in your company?
- 21. Can the digitalization of these services increase the risk of your unique knowledge / competitive advantage in any way? If yes, how?
- 22. Do you think the services you received would be just as useful in digital form?
- 23. How is the follow-up from Moment's side? Did you get enough follow-up?

#### Concluding remarks

- 24. If you were to pull out three things of this interview that were the most important aspects we have talked about, what would they be?
- 25. Is there something else you would like to say or add at the end?

Thank you for participating!

### Accelerator company

#### **Introduction**

Hello and thank you for being willing to be a part of our research project. The interview will take up to an hour and we would like to remind you that it is completely voluntary to participate. As the pandemic had a major impact on individuals and businesses, many everyday activities had to be limited and new digital alternatives had to be used to reduce physical meetings/attendance. Therefore, many companies were affected by this. The research question of our master's thesis is thus "What services and related processes can be digitalized in an accelerator company?"



If you agree, we will audio record the interview using a dictaphone which is not connected to the internet. The interview will thereby be transferred to the University of Agder's OneDrive server. After it has been analysed, transcribed, and transferred to written form in the assignment, the audio file will be deleted. Furthermore, we will only use anonymised data in our thesis.

### Interview questions

- 1. How would you describe the services that you provide?
- 2. Could you describe the process the entrepreneur / team / business is going through once they approach your company in different stages?
- 3. What are the most efficient stages/parts of the accelerator program?
- 4. What does the start-up selection process look like?
- 5. What do you think are the most valuable services that you offer?
- 6. How many individualised versus standardised assistance services do you provide for your clients?
- 7. Is there anything within the services that should be changed to increase effectiveness?
- 8. How do you gather data and information relevant for specific services when working with start-up companies?
- 9. How are the related resources allocated?
- 10. To what extent is it possible to reuse knowledge and data from previous projects for future projects?
- 11. How do you reuse the information?
- 12. What are the most important elements that are reused?
- 13. Do any of your offered services follow a framework or a "recipe"?
- 14. Which digital tools do you use in relation to the different services you deliver?
- 15. What does digital transformation mean for your company?
- 16. Are there any inefficient processes related to a specific service?
- 17. Do you think the implementation of digital solutions for the delivery of the services would solve inefficiency issues?
- 18. Do you think that digital tools could improve knowledge transfer?



- 19. Are there any services that are especially valuable in terms of the growth of the company?
- 20. Do you have any thoughts on where your company could be more digitalised?
- 21. Could you see any disadvantages of digitally transforming the services you offer?
- 22. Are there any processes or services that you think shouldn't be digitalised? Why?
- 23. Are there any new digital initiatives that you believe are beneficial for entrepreneurs?
- 24. How do you work with networking and external partnerships?
- 25. What are your thoughts on working in the physical environment, compared to working in a virtual environment?
- 26. What are your thoughts on working in a virtual environment in the future?
- 27. Have you noticed any differences in entrepreneurship due to the changing digital context?
- 28. What are your thoughts on the entrepreneurial ecosystem and digital ecosystem?

### Concluding remarks

- 29. If you were to point out three things of this interview that were the most important aspects we have talked about, what would they be?
- 30. Is there something else you would like to say or add at the end?

Thank you for participating!





### Appendix C – Raw data

Service Category	Service type	Category	Moment offers	Can be digitalized fully	Can be digitalized partly
Least common services which include limited hundle of service				,	
	Washekana		87		
	workshops			×	
	Legal and financial services				
	Video lectures and case studies				
	Transforming ideas into workable concepts		$\checkmark$		
Typical services offered by an accelerator in exchange for equity					
,,,	Mentoring				
	Conching		100		
	coaching			L.	
	Selecting participants and organize in cohorts		~		
	Boot-camp training over a fixed period				
	Preparation to pitch to investors during demo-day		~		
	Access to financing		<b></b>		~
Additional services to typical services based on participants needs					
	Office reace		823		
	Building and all			H	H
	Building a product				
	Stipends				
	Teambuilding		~		~
	Media exposure		~		~
	Brand recognition				2
	Experies to relevant and timely P&D				
	Exposure to relevant and timery R&D				
	Post-program support to graduates without cost				
	Internet marketing			~	
	Creating and submitting all the company formation documents on		192	122	
	the behalf of the participants			<b>1</b>	
	Offering free access to online platforms				
	Internet Access		<b>V</b>		
	Encoursement				
	the state of the s			8	8
	Assistance and help with technical issues			U	
Business Services					
	Advertising on accelerator medias				
	HR support (personnel selection, evaluation, personnel audit,				_
	preparation of development programs, etc)		~		×
	Idea generation and creativity management support				
	Increase credibility of startups				82
	Protocological and the building second			8	
	Prototyping and MVP building support		×	U	×
Educational services					
	Events		~	~	
Funding services					
	A public pitch event or demo day to belo attract capital		<b>1973</b>	100	
	Assess to sound A fundame				
	Access to found A funders				
	Pre-seed investments				×
	Seed funding		$\checkmark$		×
Networking services					
	Access to a wide network of experts, investors, mentors, advisors,		-	-	-
	business, entrepreneurs, etc.		~	~	
	Access to industry experts			2	
	Assess to make property		82		
	Access to market				
	Access to potential customers		~		×
Office services					
	A full passion competitive startup ecosystem place		~		<b>V</b>
	Access to meeting room				
	Access to obviced recourses (such as original second - b				
	Access to physical resources (such as printer, scanner, boards)			<u> </u>	님
	Access to R&D facilities and equipment				
	Housing				
	Office space or co-working space		<b>~</b>		

Table of services offered, filled out by Moment



### Appendix D – Christina Ditmansen Discussion Paper on 'Responsible'

The COVID-19 pandemic led to an increase in digitalisation and innovation, which became the basis for the research. This master's thesis aimed to examine which processes and services of an accelerator company can be digitalised and the advantages of digitalisation from an accelerator company's viewpoint. Through an exploratory case study, qualitative data was gathered through a set of interviews with the case company and four start-up companies in their portfolio. Data were also collected through a table of accelerator services, filled out by the case company. The interviews were recorded and transcribed, and the results were then evaluated to discover similar themes, which were then compared. The data gathered shows the processes and services offered by Moment and which services can be digitalised. Approximately one-fifth of the services can be fully digitalised, almost half of the services can be partially digitalised, and the remaining one-third of the services should not be digitalised, according to the case company. The findings also present the five main advantages of digitalisation for the case company, which include systematisation, eco-friendly operations, increased profit, increased success rate, and increased efficiency. Through the concept of translation from the Actor Network Theory, a suggestion for the implementation of digitalisation of their processes and services is illustrated through the four stages of translation, which include the suggestion of implementing the digitalisation through change management or business process management.

#### Responsibility

Responsibility can be defined as "the ability and moral obligation to respond to normative questions concerning the rightness and wrongness of actions or states of affairs" (Becker, 2019, p. 78), and is one of the basic ethical principles (Becker, 2019, p. 3).

Before starting the writing process of the master's thesis, there was a certain responsibility in relation to selecting a problem statement and research questions that were viable to perform in order to create results that would benefit society as a whole. The problem statement was chosen based on the little previous research conducted on the concept of business accelerators, especially digital or virtual accelerator programs. The master's thesis could thereby contribute to the existing literature on the phenomena.

Furthermore, the writing process of the thesis was responsible in the matter of making sure the thesis does not contain plagiarism and correctly citing the sources. Plagiarism is "the use of another's original words, arguments, or ideas as though they were your own" (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 59). Information gathered from articles and books was rewritten, using my



own words to describe the same context, or directly quoted, followed by referencing where the information was taken from. The thesis was written following the guidelines of APA 7<sup>th</sup>, which was done using websites such as Kildekompasset. Moreover, the literature search for the literature review was conducted in a responsible matter, as the articles were found by using Google Scholar, where one may find trustworthy academic articles. Also, the articles for the literature review were chosen in regard to the quality and context of the title and abstract, and it is, therefore, important to be critical of sources. It is also important not to misinterpret the work of other authors (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 59), and the articles were thereby read several times to fully comprehend the contents.

The methodology was responsible in relation to conducting the research as the details of the study were sent to NSD (Norwegian Centre for Research Data) for approval. After receiving the approval, the interviews could be scheduled and conducted. Due to the processing of personal data, the student and the supervisor are responsible for covering the duty of confidentiality (UiA, n.d.). Furthermore, regarding the research quality, the thesis had to be reliable and valid. Reliability refers to how the same researchers can observe the same event and get the same results, on separate occasions (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 137). By describing the details of how this research was conducted, other researchers can replicate the study, and in turn, prove the reliability of the case study process. Trustworthiness is another aspect of reliability and relates to the concept of responsibility. All of the interviewees had administrative roles in the companies, making the answers more credible and reliable. In the methodology chapter, all the stages of the research were described in detail, which provided increased trustworthiness and reliability to the thesis.

The data collected was presented responsibly as the findings from the transcribed interviews were presented truthfully, thereby not lying about any of the information collected. This can be shown by the use of direct quotations. By interviewing both the start-up companies and the case company, information was gathered from two perspectives.

Furthermore, responsibility states the fact that someone is responsible or accountable for something. In recent years, there has been an increased focus on the environment and what can be done to be more sustainable. Businesses try to increase their eco-friendly operations, as it is important for firms to do the right thing when conducting their business activities (Thomsen & Conyon, 2019, p. 199). This can be related to corporate social responsibility (CSR), which is a management concept where "companies integrate social and environmental concerns in their business operations" (Becker, 2019, p. 102). CSR includes economic, legal, ethical, and

philanthropic responsibilities (Becker, 2019, p. 100). The findings presented the advantages of digitalisation. One of the main advantages was eco-friendly operations, which relates to sustainability and the responsibility of businesses. Another aspect relating to this is that by digitalising the services, the company can reduce the use of paper, thereby being more sustainable. The thesis also discussed some of the disadvantages of digitalisation, which include privacy concerns, work overload, loss of human interaction, connection and chemistry.

The thesis examines the extent to which the case company's processes and services can be digitalised and concludes that the majority of the services can be digitalised. Digitalisation leads to multiple advantages, such as increased efficiency. However, the digitalisation of services leads the company to be responsible for protecting the knowledge and information they have digitalised and protecting their digital assets to "ensure that sensitive information is protected against unauthorised access", thereby being faced with ethical challenges (Lerzynski, 2021).

### **Ethical challenges**

Ethics is "the systematic reflection on values and norms" (Becker, 2019, p. 15), and asks the "questions of what is right and what is good" (Becker, 2019, p. 11). Investigating ethical issues can help uncover new markets, prospects, and competitive advantages in a business. Ethics is therefore very important for businesses (Becker, 2019, p. 7). While conducting research, "ethics in business research refers to a code of conduct or expected societal norms of behaviour" (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016, p. 13).

When choosing the topic of the research study, the research questions were chosen and formulated based on the ethical challenges that may arise. Laws, cultural values, and religious beliefs should not be in contradiction with the research. Moreover, when choosing to investigate digitalisation, there are some ethical issues regarding this as digitalisation may lead to privacy concerns, information may go astray, etc. There are also ethical challenges regarding using a single case study, as opposed to multiple case studies. Single cases have limitations such as generalisability and multiple information-processing biases (Eisenhardt, 1989; Singh, 2014). The unit of analysis of this research is therefore organisations as information is gathered from interviewing the case company and some of its portfolio companies.

Regarding the methodology, there were ethical considerations that had to be taken into account. When choosing to collect data through a set of interviews which are being recorded and transcribed, there are ethical issues arising in terms of processing personal data. Since people can be identified by their voices, the research project must be reported to NSD (Norwegian



Centre for Research Data), regardless of whether all reporting from the research is anonymous (UiA, n.d.). The research project reported to NSD consists of designing an information letter for the participants and an interview guide (NSD, n.d.). The information letter consisted of information about the purpose of the study, its research objectives, who is conducting the interviews, who the supervisor is, what it means to participate, why they are being asked to participate, and information about confidentiality and anonymity. After getting the approval from NSD, the participants were contacted and sent the information letter and the interview guide, and the interviews were scheduled. They were informed that the interviews were going to be deleted by the end of May. Interviewees were also informed that their participation is voluntary and that they can withdraw from the research at any point.

An ethical issue which usually presents itself when introducing gathered data from transcribed interviews is that interviewees from each company are labelled I1, I2, etc. By doing this, one may be able to identify the participants in terms of each individual's answer and the context of the company. Therefore, by presenting the findings from the interviews and not disclosing which interviewee said what, there is a higher degree of anonymity and essentially solves this particular ethical issue. Correspondingly, the names of the start-up companies, as well as the names of the employees of the case company, were not disclosed. The start-ups were not questioned about their own companies, thereby not revealing any potentially sensitive information about their ventures. During the interviews, ethical interview considerations were made as the interviews were conducted in private rooms so no one would disturb or be able to listen to the conversations, which can make participants nervous or uncomfortable.

Another ethical issue that may arise during the data collection is bias. I had personally no previous contact or relationship with the case company, decreasing any potential bias in this context, and therefore being able to mentally withdraw from the field of study. Also, I had not met the participating start-ups before conducting the interviews, which made me fair and impartial. Moreover, bias may arise due to poorly formulated questions, there may be response bias, inaccuracies, and reflexivity – meaning that the interviewee says the things that the interviewer wants to hear (Yin, 2009, p. 102). We were two students working together on formulating the interview questions and conducting the interviews. By being two people working on the same topic, the degree of bias is reduced as individuals differ in beliefs and viewpoints.



There were also considerable limitations regarding the time frame. Due to time constraints, four out of 18 start-up companies were interviewed in this research. If all of the start-ups in the portfolio could have been interviewed, there would be a greater amount of data to compare and could increase the accuracy and reliability of the answers as well as decreasing bias.

Finally, from the findings and discussion, the services that can be digitalised were presented, along with the advantages, as previously mentioned. The digitalisation of services has multiple advantages, which contribute to the increase in the efficiency of an organisation. However, it contains some ethical challenges, such as privacy concerns and regarding the evaluation of information. Digital systems can store a lot of information, but in terms of information evaluation, human judgement is an important factor (Lerzynski, 2021).

#### **Concluding remarks**

The term 'responsible' consists of having the responsibility of doing the right thing. There is a certain responsibility that goes with writing a master's thesis from the very beginning where the topic needs to be chosen to the conclusion of the research. Moreover, there is a responsibility in terms of the writing process to eliminate any plagiarism, as well as correctly citing and interpreting the sources. Furthermore, I had a responsibility to report the research to NSD for approval, as well as the responsibility to present the findings from the data collection in a reliable and truthful way. Additionally, responsibility can also be linked to CSR, which relates to sustainability.

Ethics is important in business as it reflects values and norms. There are, however, ethical challenges that arise when conducting research, such as with this case study. When choosing interviews as a data collection method, there are ethical issues arising in terms of processing personal data. Interviewees were therefore informed that interviews were being recorded and that their participation is voluntary, confidential, and anonymous. Also, names of employees and companies were not disclosed, except for the company name of the case study. Furthermore, bias was decreased by having no previous contact with the interviewees and conducting the interviews with a co-student.

By taking ethical considerations and following guidelines on how to write an academic paper, which I have learned through a five-year long master's degree in Business Administration, reliable and valid research has been conducted. This has essentially created a responsible thesis.



### References

Becker, C. U. (2019). *Business ethics: methods and application*. Routledge, New York. ISBN: 978-1-138-49368.

Eisenhardt, K.M. (1989). *Building theories from case study research*. The Academy of Management Review, Vol. 14 No. 4, pp. 532-550.

Lerzynski, G. (2021). *Ethical Implications of Digitalization in Healthcare*. In: Glauner, P., Plugmann, P., Lerzynski, G. (eds) Digitalization in Healthcare. Future of Business and Finance. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-65896-0\_14

NSD. (n.d.). *Fylle ut meldeskjema for personopplysninger*. Norwegian Centre for Research Data. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nsd.no/personverntjenester/fylle-ut-meldeskjema-for-personopplysninger/</u>

Sekaran, U. & Bougie, R. (2016). *Research Methods for Business – A Skill-Building Approach*. (7<sup>th</sup> ed.). John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, West Sussex, United Kingdom.

Singh, A. S. (2014). *Conducting case study research in non-profit organisations*. Emerald Insight. Retrieved from https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/QMR-04-2013-0024/full/html

Thomsen, S. & Conyon, M. (2019). *Corporate Governance and Board Decisions*. Djøf Publishing, Denmark. ISBN: 978-87-574-4321-9

UiA. (n.d.). *Rutinar for behandling av personopplysningar i forsking og i studentoppgåver*. University of Agder. Retrieved from <u>https://www.uia.no/forskning/om-forskningen/rutinar-for-behandling-av-personopplysningar-i-forsking-og-i-studentoppgaaver</u>

Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*. (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA. ISBN 978-1-4129-6099-1